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The Government of Canada endowed  

FCM with $550 million to establish  

the Green Municipal Fund™. The Fund  

supports partnerships and leveraging  

of both public and private-sector  

funding to reach higher standards  

of air, water and soil quality, and  

climate protection.
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Minister of the Environment     Minister of Natural Resources 

The Honourable Peter Kent    The Honourable Joe Oliver

Dear Ministers:

We are pleased to submit the Green Municipal Fund Annual Report 2010–2011, covering the period from 

April 1, 2010, to March 31, 2011. This year was undoubtedly one of the most successful years in the history of  

the Federation of Canadian Municipalities’ Green Municipal Fund, with loans and grants to support 107 leading  

initiatives to make communities across Canada more sustainable. FCM approved over $130 million in below-market 

loans and grants for 31 leading capital projects, and over $8.3 million in GMF grants for 76 sustainable community 

plans, feasibility studies and field tests. 

Municipalities continue to demonstrate leadership in environmental projects and the high volume of applications 

in 2010–2011 is an indication of that growing expertise and commitment. Due to the high demand for funding in 

the areas of plans, studies and tests, as well as capital projects for energy, waste, water and transportation, FCM 

temporarily stopped accepting new GMF applications for these types of initiatives in February 2011, to resume in 

December 2011. Consequently, to provide the highest level of service to Canadian municipalities, FCM is analyzing 

long-term funding options to expand the Fund through partnerships and leveraging with other financial programs, 

tools and investment structures.

In 2010–2011, FCM also saw achievements in other Funding Agreement priority areas. With over $21.3 million  

approved to date for brownfield projects, financing municipal brownfield initiatives remains a top priority for FCM. 

Targeted marketing efforts in the brownfields sector have already increased the number of potential applicants  

for brownfield funding and have put GMF firmly on track to meet its future funding targets.

FCM also continues to focus on increasing the number of applications from Quebec municipalities and their part-

ners. This year, FCM approved almost $20 million in funding for sustainable initiatives in Quebec municipalities and 

made great strides in building stronger relationships with its Quebec partners such as the Association québécoise 

pour la maîtrise de l’énergie. As well, GMF facilitates strong partnerships and leverages initiatives among municipal 

governments, the private sector and other orders of government; exceeding Funding Agreement objectives.

Knowledge resulting from GMF-funded initiatives and from education, training and capacity building services also 

continued to grow this year. For the first time, the now annual FCM Sustainable Communities Conference was held 

outside of Ottawa, in Victoria, B.C., attracting over 700 delegates and featuring more than 30 engaging sessions. In 

addition, FCM has now produced over 700 GMF publications and other resources.

Since the inception of the Fund in 2000, FCM has committed to disbursing $550 million to support 875 green  

initiatives across Canada. These GMF-supported initiatives have the potential to leverage over $3 billion of  

economic activity in more than 430 communities — proof positive that our funding offer is relevant to Canadian 

municipalities in helping them achieve their objectives on the path to sustainability.

We would like to acknowledge that the partnership between FCM and the Government of Canada continues to  

pay dividends, and remains an exemplary and unique model of cooperation.

 

 

Hans Cunningham Karen Leibovici

President, Federation of Canadian Municipalities Chair, Green Municipal Fund Council

letteR to the ministeRs
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GMf fundinG 
sTreaMs

coMMuniTY  
acTiviTies

GMf fundinG

Grants to  
develop  
sustainable  
community plans

Grants to  
conduct  
feasibility studies 
and field tests

Loans, usually  
in combination 
with grants,  
to implement  
capital projects

plAns

studies

pRojects

susTainable coMMuniTY plan: 
A document that establishes a vision for  
sustainability and demonstrates an integrated 
systems approach to achieving set targets.

feasibiliTY sTudY: 
An assessment of the technical, environmental 
and economic feasibility of a potential capital 
project or program, or a change in processes  
or procedures.

field TesT: 
An evaluation of the small-scale installation of  
a potential capital project under the conditions 
in which it will operate.

capiTal projecT: 
A capital project that will improve the  
environmental performance of brownfields, 
energy, transportation, waste, water or some 
combination of these activities.

working  
with canadian  
municipalities for  
a greener future

to help canadian municipalities achieve 
their goal of a cleaner, healthier environ-
ment, the Government of canada endowed 
the Federation of canadian municipalities 
(Fcm) with $550 million to establish the 
Green municipal Fund™ (GmF). the Fund is a 
long-term, sustainable source of grants and 
loans for municipal environmental initiatives. 

through GmF, Fcm provides grants and  
below-market loans, as well as education 
and training services to support municipal 
initiatives that improve air, water and soil 
quality, and protect the climate. Grants are 
available for sustainable community plans, 
feasibility studies and field tests, while a 
combination of grants and loans are avail-
able for capital projects (grants are not 
available for capital projects in the brown-
fields sector). Funding is allocated in five 
sectors of municipal activity: brownfields, 
energy, transportation, waste and water. 

to ensure the greatest possible impact, 
funding is invested in initiatives that will  
significantly benefit the environment  
and that are also likely to improve local 
economies and quality of life. 

Fcm shares the lessons and expertise gained 
through these initiatives and provides train-
ing to encourage other communities to 
replicate their success. 
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Economic and environmental  
impacts
Through GMF, FCM offers financial support to some of the best sustainable 

community development studies and capital projects in Canada. In 2010–

2011 , FCM offered GMF loans and grants to support 107 1 leading initiatives 

to make communities across Canada more sustainable. FCM approved over 

$8.3 million in GMF funding for 76 sustainable community plans, feasibility 

studies and field tests. Over $118.5 million in below-market loans and  

$11.5 million in grants was approved for 31 leading capital projects —  

a significant increase from the $44 million in loans and $4 million in grants 

approved in 2009–2010 and, combined with a 50 per cent decrease in  

capital project withdrawals, indicating a trend of increasing demand for  

the GMF product from municipalities. 

To date, FCM has committed to disbursing $550 million to support  

875 green initiatives across Canada. These GMF-supported initiatives  

have the potential to leverage over $3 billion of economic activity in  

more than 430 communities 2.  

Of the 875 initiatives funded to date, 150 have been capital projects,  

of which 40 have been completed and reported environmental results.  

Together, these 40 capital projects have reduced annual greenhouse  

gas (GHG) emissions by approximately 175,000 tonnes per year, reduced  

air contaminant (criteria air contaminants or CACs) emissions by over 

313,000 kilograms per year, diverted from landfill over 215,000 tonnes of 

waste per year, made over 67 hectares of previously unusable land available 

for use, improved the quality of over 122,000 cubic metres of soil, treated 

over 36 million cubic metres of water per year, and reduced water  

consumption by over 147,000 cubic metres annually. 

GMF-funded initiatives are delivering environmental benefits for their  

communities, along with real economic savings and social benefits.  

The growing number of green initiatives is not only helping to lay the  

foundations for a green economy in Canada, but demonstrating how  

sustainability can improve quality of life. 

Three funding 
streams
GMF funding is allocated to three 

types of initiatives — plans, studies 

and projects — each with separate 

assessment criteria. These streams 

make funds available for municipal 

initiatives at each point of their 

progression — from establishing 

a vision, to studying and testing 

feasibility, to making a significant 

investment in a capital project. The 

application criteria for each stream 

include prerequisites that help FCM 

to identify which applications have 

the most potential to become lead-

ing examples of sustainable com-

munity development. 

fcM: 
Corporate  
and Member  
Communications

Government and  
Media Relations

Policy and Research

National Programs

fcM Green  
Municipal fund

FCM International

1 These figures include funding for 16 new capital projects approved in 2010–2011 (gross data) as well as  
additional funding for 15 capital projects that were approved in 2009–2010 based on the updated service  
offer transition plan. 

2 These figures exclude cancelled initiatives (net data).  
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building relationships
FCM continues to support a strong partnership and leveraging strategy  

for GMF. This strategy aims to extend the reach of GMF funding and  

knowledge by exploring and implementing long-term options to replenish 

the Fund; facilitating relationships and initiatives between municipal  

governments, the private sector and other orders of government; and  

establishing strong partnerships with key stakeholders in relevant sectors.

Internally, FCM is integrating departmental projects and business plans  

and improving client and member service through increased cross- 

collaboration; exchange of ideas, contacts and experiences; and the  

alignment of goals and objectives. For example, recent collaborations 

between FCM’s international program and GMF on the national economic 

development industry have helped FCM achieve its goals for its Municipal 

Partners for Economic Development program.  

Strong external partnerships have been established with stakeholders  

and organizations such as P3 Canada, Sustainable Development  

Technologies Canada, the Fédération Québecoise des Municipalités,  

the Association québécoise pour la maîtrise de l’énergie, Quality Urban  

Energy Systems of Tomorrow, the Canadian Brownfield Network, the  

Ontario Centre for Environmental Technology Advancement and  

many others. 

walking  
the talk at 
10 Rideau Street 
In 2010, FCM leased the top two 

floors of a beautiful heritage  

building in Ottawa to house its 

growing suite of national programs, 

anchored by GMF. Built by the 

Booth family in 1916, the former 

Transportation House at the corner 

of Rideau Street and Sussex Drive 

has borne witness to civic, national 

and FCM history.

The greening of GMF’s new home 

to achieve LEED® Gold certification 

includes furnishings made from 

sustainable or recyclable materials, 

low-VOC paints and finishings,  

T8 fluorescent lighting with auto-

matic shut-off systems, low-flow 

plumbing fixtures with automatic 

flush and tap features, and an 

open-concept floor plan with  

full access to natural light and  

spectacular views.

 

3 Verified against Transport Canada’s Urban Transportation Emission Calculator using default data.
4 Based on an average 500 ml bottle of water.
5 Based on minimum capacity of an Olympic swimming pool — 2,500 m3.
6 Office of Energy Efficiency Idling Reduction Toolkit, Natural Resources Canada, 2010.
7 In 2008, the average waste production rate in Canada was 777 kg of waste per capita (Statistics Canada).  

A total of 215,000 metric tonnes is equal to the volume of waste generated by about 276,705 people, or  
approximately the population of the City of Windsor, Ontario.

GMF’S NEW HOME AT 10 RIDEAU 
STREET SERVED AS OTTAWA’S CITY 
HALL FROM 1931 TO 1958.

175,000 tonnes of GHGs 30,000 cars 3  

147,000 m3 of drinking water 300 million bottles 

 of water 4  

36 million m3 of treated water 15,000 Olympic-sized 

 swimming pools 5 

122,000 m3 of treated soil 150 football fields

(land area)

313,000 kg of CACs  3.1 million newly  

 planted trees 6 

215,000 tonnes of diverted Equivalent of waste  

waste  produced by a  

 population the size  

 of Windsor, Ontario 7 
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updated GMF 
funding offer 
and application 
form
Following a national survey on  

municipal needs, a series of  

stakeholder consultation sessions 

and a review of complementary 

federal and provincial infrastructure 

funding programs in 2009, FCM 

redefined and relaunched the GMF 

funding offer in 2010 to better meet 

the environmental financing needs 

of municipal governments and  

their partners. 

FCM increased GMF loan and grant 

amounts for capital projects, broad-

ened the eligibility criteria, and 

added flexibility to the financial  

offer in terms of disbursement  

and repayment. 

A key objective of the updated  

funding offer was to structure  

eligibility on environmental objec-

tives or outcomes as opposed to 

specific project types. This approach 

will enable municipalities to plan and  

seek GMF funding for a range of 

projects that may all be very  

different, but lead to the same  

environmental outcomes. 

FCM also took the opportunity to 

consolidate the numerous GMF  

application forms and Intent to  

Apply form into a single online  

application form. The new form  

features clearer and simpler ques-

tions, a suite of mandatory and  

optional environmental indicators, 

and additional help text. The form 

will be continually improved in  

response to client feedback, and  

in keeping with program changes.

8 This figure excludes withdrawn initiatives (net data).
9 On January 1, 2011, OCETA became the Bloom Centre for Sustainability

spotlight on brownfields 
Almost every Canadian munici pality, large and small, is home to a  

brownfield site. The GMF Funding Agreement requires FCM to apply its 

best efforts to commit $150 million in loans to brownfield projects by March 

2012. Understanding the needs of municipal governments with respect to 

financing brownfield initiatives remains a top priority for FCM. 

To date, over $21.3 million has been approved for brownfield projects 8. 

Over $1.7 million has been disbursed, with a further $16.9 million approved 

and under contract negotiation. 

The market for brownfield reme diation has directed FCM to include private 

sector developers and economic development agencies and corporations 

among its target audiences for the Fund. As the majority of brownfield 

properties are privately owned, the need for strong partnerships between 

municipalities and the private sector has increased. Lending to the private 

sector will assist FCM in achieving its target of having a minimum of 15 per 

cent of the Fund allocated to non-municipal borrowers, in compliance with 

its Funding Agreement with the Government of Canada. 

A Brownfields Practice Group was created to develop a long-term market-

ing strategy and assess funding opportunities as they arise. Targeted mar-

keting efforts in the brownfields sector have already significantly increased 

the number of potential applicants for brownfields funding, and put GMF 

firmly on track to meet its 2014 funding targets. 

FCM sponsored six successful brownfields workshops across the  

country conducted by the Ontario Centre for Environmental Technology 

Advancement (OCETA) 9. The workshops aimed to build capacity to 

undertake brownfields projects by identifying local issues, connecting 

stakeholders, and highlighting new approaches and solutions for  

brownfield redevelopment. 

The workshops took place in early 2011, and included day-long sessions in 

Hamilton, Kingston, Waterloo, Edmonton and North Bay, as well as a half-

day session in Montréal. Participants learned about innovative approaches 

to financing, remediating and redeveloping their brownfield sites from 

experts in different sectors. These events allowed FCM to identify potential 

GMF applicants and increase the Fund’s visibility with key industry stake-

holders. They also provi ded an opportunity for the GMF team to develop 

new relationships in the brownfields sector and to share updates on current 

legislation and brownfield planning resources. Over 600 workshop par-

ticipants from the private, public and non-profit sectors provided valuable 

insights based on their experience and expertise. 
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GMF staff delivered a series of 

presentations at events and held 

a number of meetings with stake-

holders to promote GMF’s brown-

fields funding. The team continues 

its collaborations with OCETA,  

Climatsol, the Economic Developers 

Association of Canada, P3 Canada 

and others to identify leveraging 

opportunities and to work together 

to meet the needs of municipalities 

and their partners.

FCM also shared knowledge on 

brownfields through a brownfields 

webinar series and a new series 

of Brownfield Roadmaps for each 

province and territory (see the 

Knowledge section of this report). 

Target: Quebec
FCM continues to focus on increasing the number of applications  

from Quebec municipalities and their partners. In 2010–2011, FCM  

approved almost $20 million in funding for sustainable initiatives in  

Quebec municipalities. 

These efforts are guided by the Quebec Outreach Strategy and were  

supported this year by the creation of a Quebec Practice Group. The  

Practice Group aims to refine the long-term Quebec marketing strategy  

and to assess funding opportunities in the province as they arise. Two  

GMF staff members are dedicated exclusively to the Quebec market.

FCM also collaborated with the Association québécoise pour la maîtrise  

de l’énergie (AQME) to develop an energy toolkit and one-on-one mentor-

ing service for Quebec municipalities, both of which will be launched in 

2011–2012. A pilot project was undertaken with the Montréal Urban Ecology 

Centre to support active transportation in four Montréal neighbourhoods, 

and FCM is a proud organizing partner for the upcoming 2011 Ecocity  

World Summit in August in Montréal.  

funding demand
Municipalities are showing themselves to be leaders in environmental  

projects and the high volume of applications in 2010–2011 is an indication  

of that growing expertise and commitment. Due to the high demand for 

funding in the areas of plans, studies and tests, as well as capital projects 

for energy, waste, water and transportation, FCM temporarily stopped  

accepting new GMF applications for these types of initiatives in February 

2011, to resume in 2011–2012. Funding remained available for brownfields 

capital projects.

FCM’s success in meeting GMF funding targets in the water, waste, energy 

and transportation sectors forecasts a continued and increased demand 

for municipal environmental funding as federal economic stimulus funding 

comes to a close. To provide the highest level of service to Canadian  

muni cipalities, FCM is reviewing long-term funding options to expand  

the Fund through partnerships and leveraging with other financial  

programs, tools and investment structures. 
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shARinG knowledGe, expeRience And  
best pRActices in sustAinAble development

brownfields roadmaps: FCM launched a new series of Brownfields Roadmaps to help municipalities and their 

private-sector partners better understand how to redevelop brownfields in their communities. Developed in close 

consultation with provincial and territorial governments, each Roadmap features an easy-to-follow path through 

relevant provincial legislation, the basic steps to redevelopment, and available funding opportunities.  

(Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf)

canadian Municipalities – leading the way to urban sustainability: Developed in collaboration with the Inter-

American Development Bank (IDB) for its 2011 Annual Meeting, this publication showcases leading Canadian  

cities implementing strategies toward urban sustainability. The examples centre on three sustainability pillars  

targeted in IDB’s Emerging and Sustainable Cities Initiative — integrated urban development, environmental  

sustainability and climate change protection, and fiscal sustainability and governance.  

(Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf)

Municipal sustainable bylaw collection: FCM’s first nation-wide call for submissions of municipal green policies, 

bylaws and procedures collected over 100 sustainable municipal bylaws. Communities from coast to coast to coast 

have continued to share their efforts and the ever-growing collection now boasts almost 170 excellent green bylaws. 

(Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf)

since 2000, Fcm has produced over  
700 GmF publications and other resources. 
the base of knowledge resulting from 
GmF-funded initiatives and from education, 
training and capacity building services con-
tinued to grow this year through programs 
and events such as the Fcm sustainable 
community Awards, the Fcm sustainable 
communities conference, the partners for 
climate protection (pcp) program, and  
capacity building workshops; as well as  
over 150 new case studies of GmF-funded 
initiatives and 25 other publications and 
online resources that have been shared  
with municipalities and their partners  
across canada (see Appendix G). 

Fcm also continues to share its sustainability  
expertise at major national and regional 
conferences and workshops focused on  
the GmF funding sectors.

knowledGe  
by the numbeRs

524 Case studies

85 Other publications/collections

47 Award-winning project videos

37 Webinar podcasts 

18 GMF newsletters

4 Sector research reports

3 Sustainability Solutions

1 Sustainability Snapshots
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Fcm sustAinAble community AwARds 

FCM recognizes municipal leadership in sustainable community development through the Sustainable Community 

Awards (Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf). In February 2011, the winners of the 2011 FCM Sustainable Community 

Awards were honoured in a ceremony at FCM’s Annual Sustainable Communities Conference in Victoria, British 

Columbia. This year saw the addition of a ninth category —integrated neighbourhood development — to recognize 

neighbourhood-scale developments that have integrated sustainability solutions across municipal departments  

and service areas. These integrated initiatives address sustainable development practices in two or more areas  

(energy, water, waste, transportation) in relatively equal proportions. 

The FCM Sustainable Community Awards received over 70 applications this year. Seven of the 12 winning initiatives 

for 2011 were funded by GMF. 

award caTeGorY winner

brownfields town of the blue mountains, ontario 
 blue Mountains Town Hall*

buildings  city of calgary, Alberta 
 renovation of the Historic calgary public building

energy (two winners) city of medicine hat, Alberta 
 HaT smart renewal energy and conservation program*

 city of montréal, Quebec 
 energy fund

integrated neighbourhood  city of burnaby, british columbia, and the sFu community trust 
development univercity community at simon fraser university*

planning (two winners) city of calgary, Alberta 
 planit calgary*

 city of yellowknife, northwest territories 
 smart Growth development plan*

Residential development city of victoria, british columbia 
 Making secondary suites easier

transportation city of toronto, ontario 
 city of Toronto walking strategy

waste Regional district of nanaimo, british columbia 
 Zero waste program*

water (two winners) town of olds, Alberta, and waste not ltd. 
 wastewater wonder

 village of victoria, prince edward island, and  
 engineering technologies canada 
 water and wastewater pilot project*

* Funded by GMF
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FCM  
Sustainable 
Communities 
conference 
For the first time, the FCM Sustain-

able Communities Conference was 

held outside of Ottawa, in Victoria, 

British Columbia. Strong collabo-

ration between FCM, the City of 

Victoria and the Capital Regional 

District resulted in a successful 

event. 

From February 8 to 10, 2011, 

Embracing Change for Sustaina
bility: Innovative governance, part
nerships and financing attracted 

over 700 delegates and featured 

more than 30 engaging sessions 

organized around the conference 

theme. Highlights of the program 

included the 2011 FCM Sustainable 

Community Awards ceremony, 

eight sold-out study tours, and  

a host of inspirational keynote 

speakers including Peter Senge,  

Gil Peñalosa, Sadhu Johnston,  

Mark Anielski, and Amelia Shaw. 

FCM exceeded its sponsorship  

targets for the event, a testimony 

to the popularity and high profile  

of the now annual event.

Summaries and presentations from 

the 2011 conference are available on 

the FCM website. (Available online 

at www.fcm.ca/gmf)

FCM Sustainable  
Communities Mission
FCM continues to evaluate the most effective timing and delivery of the 

Sustainable Communities Mission. In light of shifting priorities and limited 

professional development budgets in many municipalities, plans for a  

2010 Mission in Quebec were postponed. 

Reports and case studies on all past Missions are available on the  

FCM website. (Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf)

GMF webinars 
FCM offered eight free, interactive, web-based workshops on a range  

of topics (Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf). These eight webinars  

attracted 874 participants from across Canada. Each webinar features  

presentations from sector experts, including federal government  

representatives and municipal practitioners, and showcases GMF-funded 

projects whenever possible. The audience continues to be primarily  

municipal, with the majority coming from Ontario, British Columbia  

and, this year, Quebec. The number of participants in French webinars  

increased significantly from 16 per cent to 26.4 per cent of this year’s  

total number of participants.

Almost all participants (95.2 per cent) said that the webinars either met 

(76.9 per cent) or exceeded (18.3 per cent) their expectations; and that 

they would recommend the FCM webinars to others (91.8 per cent). FCM 

received 194 positive comments from this year’s webinar series. Just over 

two-thirds (69.6 per cent) of these comments addressed two areas:  

interest in the topics presented (38.3 per cent) and the opportunity to  

learn from other programs (31.3 per cent). Of the 21 constructive sugges-

tions received, most (19) related to the format, the speakers and technical 

issues; with one comment regarding the cap on the number of webinar 

registrations. Participants continue to express appreciation for the webinars 

as a low-cost, accessible learning format; particularly for those in small, rural 

or remote municipalities. They valued the opportunity to network and ex-

change ideas with their peers across the country, without having to travel.
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partners 
for Climate  
Protection
The Partners for Climate Protection 

(PCP) program is a network of  

Canadian municipal governments 

that have committed to reducing 

greenhouse gases (GHGs) and  

acting on climate change. By partici-

pating in the program, municipalities 

commit to taking action and work to 

achieve a series of five milestones to 

reduce their GHG emissions. 

PCP is the Canadian component  

of ICLEI’s Cities for Climate  

Protection™ Campaign, which 

involves more than 1,200 communi-

ties internationally. PCP is managed 

through a partnership between FCM 

and ICLEI – Local Governments  

for Sustainability, and receives  

financial support from GMF.

Since its inception in 1998,  

216 municipalities representing  

approximately 80 per cent of  

Canada’s population have joined 

PCP. The program helps members 

create GHG inventories, set realistic 

and achievable reduction targets, 

and develop and deliver local action 

plans along with measurable actions 

to reduce emissions. 

PCP welcomed 14 new municipa lities 

to the program in 2010–2011, recog-

nized 118 corporate and community  

milestones that were achieved by  

32 local governments, and  

acknowledged five municipalities 

that achieved Milestone Five.

pcp milestones coRpoRAte opeRAtions community-wide

Milestone one:  
Create a GHG emissions inventory  
and forecast. 29 36

Milestone Two:  
Set an emissions reductions target. 19 16

Milestone Three:  
Develop a local action plan. 55 48

Milestone Four:  
Implement the local action plan  
or a set of activities. 12 10

Milestone Five:  
Monitor progress and report results. 8 4

pcp Members that have not yet  
achieved any of the corporate  
or community milestones  93 municipalities 102 municipalities

Total pcp Member Municipalities  216

To support municipalities, FCM released four PCP guidance documents 

covering municipal fleets, municipal GHG inventories and reporting proce-

dures for achieving Milestone Five. FCM also published 12 GHG Reduction 

Initiatives of the Month (Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf) highlighting 

innovative municipal initiatives, hosted three webinars as part of the GMF 

webinar series, coordinated five presentations and workshops at the 2011 

FCM Sustainable Communities Conference, and participated in nine  

workshops and presentations at external events.

The 2010 National Measures Report (Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf) 

highlights 182 initiatives undertaken by 37 municipalities across Canada 

to reduce GHGs. Taken together, these initiatives have reduced GHGs by 

350,000 tonnes annually. They represent more than $145 million in invest-

ments and have saved municipalities nearly $3.5 million per year. Since the 

process began in 2008, more than 1.5 million tonnes of GHG reductions 

have been reported.  

FCM also played an integral role in developing an e-learning module  

entitled Adapting your Infrastructure to Climate Change: tools and 
techniques for vulnerability assessment, risk evaluation and response  
planning (Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf). Launched by FCM in 

partnership with the Canadian Standards Association, this online course 

provides an overview of climate change hazards and their potential  

impacts on infrastructure. The module also provides tools and techniques  

that support adaptation planning approaches their application to local  

climate change hazards.

A highlight of the year was the successful delivery of the Enviro-Fleets pilot 

project with the support of Environment Canada. Designed to help munici-

pal fleet managers find cost-effective ways to reduce emissions from heavy-

duty vehicles, the project led to the development of the EnviroFleets Guide 
to Helpful Resources (Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf), as well as the 

EnviroFleets Guide to Best Practices (Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf).
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Fund  
performance 
In keeping with the Funding 

Agreement, GMF investments are 

overseen by the GMF Investment 

Committee (appointed by the FCM 

National Board of Directors). After 

the appointment of the new exter-

nal investment advisors last year 

and the review of the cash-flow 

model, the Committee worked on 

updating the Investment Policy and 

establishing benchmarks for the 

investment portfolio. The updated 

Investment Policy and benchmarks 

were approved by the FCM Execu-

tive Committee in November 2010. 

The commitment with GMF’s 

Investments Manager came to an 

end during the fiscal year. Follow-

ing an RFP process, the Executive 

Committee appointed Fiera Sceptre 

as GMF’s new Investment Manager 

effective July 1, 2011.

The Audit Committee meets quar-

terly to review the audited financial 

statements to ensure that they 

fairly present GMF’s financial posi-

tion and results.

fcM has  
developed 
an assessment  
protocol for 
clarifying  
project-specific 
measurement 
methodology

Environmental  
performance
Anticipated environmental performance of capital projects approved  
in 2010–2011 and since inception

In 2010–2011, FCM continued to track the anticipated environmental perfor-

mance of GMF-funded capital projects. The anticipated impacts of projects 

are calculated based on an internal assessment that also serves as an audit 

of applicants’ claims of the environmental benefits of proposed projects. 

Claims of anticipated results are normalized to ensure comparability in 

measurement methodology.  

Methodology: These data are excerpted from an internal staff assessment 

(compiled from the information applicants have provided in their funding 

applications) of the anticipated incremental environmental impacts of GMF-

funded capital projects relative to what could have reasonably been expect-

ed to occur in the absence of the project (i.e. baseline). The data presented 

in the tables reflect only key results of a larger set of indicators developed 

as part of the comprehensive performance measurement system for capital 

projects. The new GMF Application Form includes mandatory indicators 

for each sector, which help in aggregating anticipated benefits within each 

sector.  

challenges: The indicators are not yet fully implemented and there are 

limitations in measuring the overall anticipated environmental footprint  

of projects owing to variances in the optional indicators submitted. 

achievements: FCM has developed an assessment protocol for clarifying 

project-specific measurement methodology at the application stage to 

facilitate applicants’ baseline reporting. 

Table 4-1 – anticipated environmental benefits of capital projects  
approved in 2010–2011

GmF FundinG enviRonmentAl  numbeR oF 
stReAm beneFits pRojects

Brownfields 1.0 ha of land recovered  
 27,000 m3 of contaminated soil managed 1

Energy 2,613 Tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided 10

 783 kg/year of CAC’s avoided 11 9

Waste 6,656 Tonnes CO
2
e/year GHG emissions avoided

 6,285 Tonnes/year of waste diverted from landfills 1

Water 21,175,475 m3/year of water and wastewater 
 treated to Canadian Council of Ministers of the  
 Environment (CCME) or Canadian Drinking Water  
 Quality Guidelines (CDWQG) 5

 Total  16

10 Energy GHG emissions are calculated based on the provincial average emissions factor or the emissions  
of the equipment being replaced

11 CAC Emissions were not reported for all projects and include: nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulphur oxides (SOX), 
volatile organic compounds (VOC), and particulate matter (PM10)
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future activities for 2011–2012:
FCM’s continued work in environ-

mental performance measurement 

will centre on the following  

activities:

•  Refine the mandatory indicators 

to assist in decision-making and 

reporting. 

•  Harmonize reporting methodol-

ogy with other funders of mu-

nicipal infrastructure projects, 

such as Sustainable Technology 

Development Canada and  

Natural Resources Canada.

•  Normalize data on anticipated 

environmental performance 

for all projects for which actual 

results have been reported. This 

will enable FCM to compare the 

actual environmental perfor-

mance of projects approved 

since inception of the Fund to 

their anticipated environmental 

performance. 

•  Track outstanding anticipated 

environmental performance  

(i.e. by subtracting the antici-

pated environmental perfor-

mance of projects for which 

actual results have been  

reported). 

fcM  
measures the 
actual results  
of funded  
projects to  
understand  
the impact of 
GMF funding

Actual results for 2010–2011

FCM measures the actual results of funded projects to understand the  

impact of GMF funding in each sector, manage targets, and to report on  

the meaningful outcomes municipalities and their partners have achieved.  

Methodology: These data are excerpted from an internal assessment of the 

actual incremental environmental impacts of GMF-funded capital projects 

compiled from the Environmental Results Reports submitted by funding 

recipients and the GMF project performance reporting system verified by a 

third-party consultant. These data reflect the performance of these projects 

relative to what could have reasonably been expected to occur in the  

absence of the project (i.e. baseline). The data presented in the tables  

reflect only key results of a larger set of indicators.

challenges: While the framework for monitoring environmental benefits 

has improved, normalizing previous measurement and reporting metho-

dologies to understand the aggregated environmental benefits and impacts 

remains a challenge, as does assessing environmental benefits over time 

and keeping reporting requirements simple for applicants without compro-

mising data accuracy. 

achievements: To improve accuracy, actual results are compared directly 

to anticipated results in each sector. A GMF logic model has been adopted 

to normalize post-project results and anticipated benefits.

Table 4-2 – anticipated environmental benefits of capital projects since 
GMf inception (includes those approved in 2010–2011)

GmF FundinG enviRonmentAl  numbeR oF 
stReAm beneFits pRojects

Brownfields 187.8 ha of land recovered 
 2,021,630 m3 of contaminated soil managed 12

Energy 306,427 tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided 12

 2,868 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided2

 10 ha of land recovered 
 99,197 m3/year water saved 84

Transportation 51,801 tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided

 529 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided 13 10

Waste 737,953 tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided

 26,467 tonnes/year waste diverted from landfills 25

Water 21,175,475 m3/year of water and wastewater treated 
 to CCME or CDWQG3

 2,811,000 m3/year of water saved
 -10,317 tonnes/year CO

2
e reduction in GHG 

 emissions (increase) 14 40

Total  171 15

12 GHG emissions for energy projects are calculated based on provincial average electrical emissions intensities  
or the emissions of the equipment being replaced.

 Water projects are expected to create an increase in GHG emissions due to increased energy use; however  
not all projects quantify this energy use.

13 CAC Emissions were not reported for all projects and include: NOX, SOX, VOC, and PM10
14 This metric has not been applied to many projects approved prior to 2009
15 These figures include the anticipated environmental project from 21 capital projects that have recently  

been withdrawn
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Table 4-4 – cumulative actual environmental benefits of capital projects 
completed since GMf inception 

GmF FundinG ActuAl enviRonmentAl  numbeR oF 
stReAm beneFits pRojects

Brownfields 67.8 ha of land recovered 
 8,460 m3 of contaminated soil managed
 9,163 m3 contaminated water or sludge remediated 2

Energy 74,135 tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided 18

 31.1 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided 19

 43,980 m3/year water saved 20

Transportation 32,240 tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided

 280.9 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided 5

Waste 68,893 tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided

 0.7 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided 
 215,020 tonnes/year of waste diverted from landfills 7

Water 36,219,080 m3/year of water and wastewater treated 
 to CCME or CDWQG 
 103,558 m3/year of water saved 6

 Total  40

 

Table 4-3 – anticipated environmental benefits of capital projects since GMf inception  
(includes those approved in 2010–2011)

GmF FundinG expected enviRonmentAl beneFit ActuAl enviRonmentAl beneFit  numbeR oF  
stReAm    pRojects

Brownfields 3.1 ha of land recovered 3.1 ha of land recovered 
 5,100 m3 of contaminated soil managed 6,470 m3 of contaminated soil managed
  9,163 m3 contaminated water or sludge remediated 1

Energy 65,568 tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions  70,262 tonnes CO

2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided

 avoided 16 27.1 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided2

 27.5 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided 17 2,119 m3/year water saved
 975 m3/year water saved  6

Transportation 1,418 tonnes CO
2
e/year of GHG emissions  997 tonnes CO

2
e/year of GHG emissions avoided

 avoided 11.2 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided 
 14.1 tonnes/year of CAC’s avoided  2

Water 2,613,530 m3/year of water and wastewater  2,613,530 m3/year of water and wastewater treated
 treated to CCME or CDWQG to CCME or CDWQG 
 21,063 m3/year of water saved 13,273 m3/year of water saved 3

 Total   12

16 GHG emissions for energy projects are calculated based on provincial average electrical emissions  
intensities or the emissions of the equipment being replaced

17 CAC Emissions were not reported for all projects and include: NOX, SOX, VOC, and PM10
18 GHG emissions for energy projects are calculated based on provincial average electrical emissions  

intensities or the emissions of the equipment being replaced
19 CAC Emissions were not reported for all projects and include: NOX, SOX, VOC, and PM10
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FundinG AllocAtions

a p p e n d i x  a :

Table a1: number of applications and approvals for sustainable community plans, feasibility studies  
and field tests         

 TOTAL 2010–2011 2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 2000–2007

Completed Intent to  
Apply forms 1 submitted 2103 49 110 70 119 1755

Accepted Intent to Apply forms 1613 52 100 60 95 1306

Completed applications  
submitted 1101 70 108 53 71 799

approvals 2 796 76 66 38 91 525

1 As of September 2010, Intent to Apply forms were not required for sustainable community plans, feasibility studies or field tests.    
2 Applications may be carried over and approved in the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which the application was submitted. 

As such, the number of approved projects in a given year may exceed the number of applications.      
 

Table a2: number of applications and approvals for capital projects       

 TOTAL 2010–2011 2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 2000–2007

Completed Intent to Apply  
forms 1 submitted 953 0 0 0 106 847

Accepted Intent to Apply forms 591 0 0 0 64 527

Completed applications  
submitted 403 23 29 61 24 266

approvals 2 232 16 19 34 29 134

1 As of January 1, 2008, Intent to Apply forms were not required for capital projects.     
2 Applications may be carried over and approved in the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which the application was submitted.     

As such, the number of approved projects in a fiven year may exceed the number of applications.      



P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 1  

%
 o

f 
p

o
p

. 

%
 o

f 
a
p

p
ro

v
a
ls

AppRoved FeAsibility studies, Field tests And sustAinAble community plAns 

Table a3: approved sustainable community plans, feasibility studies and field tests by province 
(Dollar figures presented in $1000s)         

 since inception 2010–2011 2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 2000–2007

 

 

 

 

Province   #  Grant ($) TPV 2 ($) # Grant ($) TPV 2 ($) # Grant ($) TPV 2 ($) # Grant ($) TPV 2 ($) # Grant ($) TPV 2 ($) # Grant ($) TPV 2 ($) 

Alberta 3,290,350 10.4 89 11.2 9,014 21,014 3 265 584 4 281 643 7 1,037 2,568 6 633 1,429 69 6,798 15,790 

British Columbia 4,113,487 13.0 148 18.6 12,412 32,527 20 2,106 5,007 12 593 1,420 4 442 1,668 14 1,346 3,540 98 7,925 20,891 

Manitoba 1,148,401 3.6 30 3.8 2,142 10,324 3 132 469 4 561 3,870 1 6 11 2 145 292 20 1,300 5,683 

New Brunswick 729,997 2.3 37 4.6 1,659 3,642 4 101 227 2 78 157 3 213 491 3 133 258 25 1,134 2,509 

Newfoundland and  

Labrador 505,469 1.6 13 1.6 984 2,173 1 16 33 2 78 164 0 0 0 1 9 19 9 882 1,958 

Nova Scotia 913,462 2.9 34 4.3 2,326 5,200 4 129 264 1 17 39 1 44 111 5 353 772 23 1,783 4,015 

Northwest Territories 41,464 0.1 9 1.1 999 2,144 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 713 1,565 4 286 579 

Nunavut 29,474 0.1 4 0.5 340 912 1 158 464 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 182 448 

Ontario 12,160,282 38.5 270 33.9 26,366 62,242 26 2,275 5,563 18 1,846 4,782 14 1,457 3,184 33 3,749 7,961 179 17,039 40,753 

Prince Edward  

Island 135,851 0.4 5 0.6 459 1,216 1 350 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 109 216 

Quebec 4 7,546,131 23.9 117 14.7 12,195 37,531 11 2,251 12,620 22 2,324 5,876 7 618 1,427 19 1,509 3,365 58 5,493 14,242 

Saskatchewan 968,157 3.1 32 4.0 2,956 9,496 2 460 4,296 1 51 112 1 25 123 1 79 166 27 2,341 4,798 

Yukon 30,372 0.1 8 1.0 478 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 161 301 6 317 949 

 Additional 5     422   135   9      80  0 198  

 Total  31,612,897 100 796  100 72,754 189,668 76 8,379 30,525 66 5,839 17,062 38 3,840 9,583 91 8,910 19,668 525 45,786 112,830  

 Less 3   (71)  (12,169) (14,241) (6) (1,932) (1,541) (8) (1,902) (1,699) (13) (2,618) (3,093) (6) (1,987) (1,972) (38) (3,730) (5,936) 

 Net  31,612,897   725   60,585 175,427 70 6,447 28,984 58 3,937 15,363 25 1,223 6,489 85 6,922 17,696 487 42,056 106,894 

1  Source: Statistics Canada 2006 Census
2  TPV = Total project value 
3  Less = Cancelled initiatives and amounts not disbursed on completed initiatives. Note that an initiative may be cancelled after the fiscal year within which it was approved.
4  In March 2004, the first municipal proposals were approved following the signature in 2003 of an agreement between the Government of Quebec and FCM authorizing Quebec municipalities to receive GMF funding.
5  Additional = Funding added to previously approved studies            
Note: A review of the GMF database and accounting records pertaining to 2009-2010, identified some minor discrepancies in the data contained in this table compared to the data displayed in the 2009-2010 Annual Report. 
The appropriate adjustments have been made and are reflected here.
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APPROVED CAPITAL PROJECTS                           

Table A4: Approved capital projects by province                           
(Dollar figures presented in $1000s)

 SINCE INCEPTION 2010–2011 2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 2000–2007  
 

 
Province   #  Grant ($) Loan ($) TPV2 ($) # Grant Loan TPV2 ($) # Grant Loan TPV2 ($) # Grant Loan TPV2 ($) # Grant Loan TPV2 ($) # Grant Loan TPV ($)

Alberta 3,290,350 10.4 21 9.1 9,901 41,643 226,406 1 400 4,000 33,026 2 111 1,112 6,359 3 662 4,472 19,131 6 1,150 16,050 81,987 9 7,578 16,010 85,903

British Columbia 4,113,487 13.0 40 17.2 11,691 99,967 595,716 2 721 7,067 52,544 1 302 3,024 4,631 1 52 348 500 6 1,072 13,124 45,442 30 9,543 76,404 492,599

Manitoba 1,148,401 3.6 7 3.0 5,589 18,637 48,638 0 0 0 0 1 23 235 323 0 0 0 0 1 500 858 2,860 5 5,066 17,544 45,455

New Brunswick 729,997 2.3 8 3.4 1,593 11,569 44,049 2 496 4,961 16,104 0 0 0 0 4 848 5,661 25,201 1 249 149 497 1 0 798 2,247

Newfoundland  
and Labrador 505,469 1.6 7 3.0 3,385 26,153 118,317 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 3,385 26,153 118,317

Nova Scotia 913,462 2.9 9 3.9 2,883 31,674 416,253 0 0 0 0 2 527 5,273 43,420 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 2,355 26,401 372,833

Northwest  
Territories 41,464 0.1 0 0.0    0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nunavut 29,474 0.1 1 0.4 78 78 310 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 78 78 310

Ontario 12,160,282 38.5 93 40.1 23,267 237,366 1,649,870 8 2,744 44,360 176,470 9 2,076 22,690 173,195 20 5,600 35,611 468,729 10 2,164 31,053 140,739 46 10,682 103,652 690,738

Prince Edward Island 135,851 0.4 1 0.4 851  1,723 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 851 0 1,723

Quebec 5 7,546,131 23.9 33 14.2 13,156 45,206 309,558 3 1,793 15,723 40,848 4 1,126 12,162 27,219 5 948 5,009 12,722 3 1,103 827 2,815 18 8,187 11,485 225,955

Saskatchewan 968,157 3.1 10 4.3 1,145 6,507 22,534 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 82 824 2,740 1 413 248 825 8 650 5,435 18,969

Yukon 30,372 0.1 2 0.9 250 885 1,562 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 250 816 1,332 1 0 69 230

 PPRGA 3 n/a n/a 0 n/a 3,630  3,630 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,630 0 3,630 
 Additional 4   0 0 5,319 42,401  0 5,319 42,401 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0   0 
 Total  31,612,897 100 232  100.0 82,737 562,086 3,438,566 16 11,474 118,513 318,991 19 4,166 44,495 255,146 34 8,192 51,924 529,023 29 6,900 63,124 276,497 134 52,005 284,030 2,058,909 
 Less 4 0  (82)  (15,661) (139,417) (584,455) (7) (2,799) (9,380) (116,473) (16) (2,843) (25,779) (139,882) (15) (4,541) (30,657) (130,310) (19) (2,096) (18,368) (65,627) (25) (3,382) (55,233) (132,163) 
 Net  31,612,897  150   67,076 422,669 2,854,110 9 8,675 109,133 202,518 3 1,323 18,716 115,264 19 3,651 21,267 398,713 10 4,804 44,756 210,870 109 48,623 228,797 1,926,746

1  Source: Statistics Canada 2006 Census                             
2  TPV = Total project value                             
3  Project Performance Reporting Grant Agreement (PPRGA) grants to capital projects                         
4  Additional = Sum of requests for additional funding received. This figure is only available for 2010–2011, as the GMF Council approved a transition policy that permitted applicants to request  

additional funding for projects approved under the previous service offer, prior to the launch of the updated funding offer in 2010. The updated funding offer increased the amount of funding  
available per project.

5  Less = Cancelled initiatives and amounts not disbursed on completed initiatives. Note that an initiative may be cancelled after the fiscal year within which it was approved.
6  In March 2004, the first municipal proposals were approved following the signature in 2003 of an agreement between the Government of Quebec and FCM authorizing Quebec  

municipalities to receive GMF funding.                             
NOTE: A review of the GMF database and accounting records pertaining to 2009-2010, identified some minor discrepancies in the data contained in this table compared to the data displayed  
in the 2009-2010 Annual Report.  
The appropriate adjustments have been made and are reflected here.                            
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Table a5: urban–rural balance of approved sustainable community plans, feasibility studies and field tests

 since inception 2010–2011 2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 2000–2007

Municipality  
Type 1

Small, rural  
and remote 6,262,154 19.8 256 32.2 41.1 26 34.2 21 31.8 11 28.9 27 29.7 171 32.6

Towns and  
cities 25,350,743 80.2 540 67.8 21.3 50 65.8 45 68.2 27 71.1 64 70.3 354 67.4

ToTal 31,612,897 100 796 100 25.2 76 100 66 100 38 100 91 100 525 100

1 Urban areas are areas with populations of at least 1,000 and no fewer than 400 persons per square kilometre.   
All other communities are considered rural (Statistics Canada). Regional organizations are considered rural except in census metropolitan areas. 

2 Source: Statistics Canada 2006 Census  

Table a6: urban–rural balance of approved capital projects

 since inception 2010–2011 2009–2010 2008–2009 2007–2008 2000–2007

Municipality  
Type 1

Small, rural  
and remote 6,262,154 19.8 72 31.0 11.4 3 18.8 5 26.3 5 14.7 13 44.8 46 34.3

Towns and  
cities 25,350,743 80.2 160 69.0 6.3 13 81.2 14 73.7 29 85.3 16 55.2 88 65.7

ToTal 31,612,897 100 232 100 7.3 16 100 19 100 34 100 29 100 134 100

1 Urban areas are areas with populations of at least 1,000 and no fewer than 400 persons per square kilometre.   
All other communities are considered rural (Statistics Canada). Regional organizations are considered rural except in census metropolitan areas. 

2 Source: Statistics Canada 2006 Census  
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Fund mAnAGement

a p p e n d i x  b :

Table b1: amount and Type of funding disbursed       

 since 2010- 2009- 2008- 2007- 2006- 2005- 2000-
 inception 2011 ($) 2010 ($) 2009 ($) 2008 ($) 2007 ($) 2006 ($) 2005 ($)

Grants for sustainable  
community plans,  
feasibility studies and  
field tests 46,761,500  7,622,663  7,450,982 6,577,364 7,214,040 6,055,898 3,984,478 7,856,075

Grants for capital projects 32,270,661  2,080,100  3,243,219 7,144,527 3,180,527 4,443,777 7,617,437 4,561,074

Project Performance  
Reporting Grant Agreement  
(PPRGA) grants for capital  
projects 759,454  269,243  105,379 123,318 142,391 78,593 10,530 30,000

Loans for capital projects 183,857,079  29,036,017  18,913,476 10,790,735 21,020,474 8,918,905 37,831,916 57,345,556

Total 263,648,694  39,008,023  29,713,056 24,635,944 31,557,432 19,497,173 49,444,360 69,792,705

Table b2: performance of unallocated funds

CIBC Global Asset Management Inc. manages the portion of the Fund that has not yet been disbursed to studies 

and projects. Directives for investments of these unallocated funds are contained in the GMF Investment Policy and 

Strategy, which will be revised to ensure sufficient returns for the Fund in line with the Fund’s objectives and finan-

cial sustainability.

The following table illustrates the rate of return on unallocated funds since inception. 

 since  
 inception  2010-2011 2009-2010 2008-2009 2007-2008 2006-2007 2005-2006 2004-2005 2003-2004

Return on  
investment (%) 6.04  4.69  6.09 4.69 6.63 5.3 3.97 3.21 8.74
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Table b3: senior management compensation

GMF senior management is composed of the following positions. Their remuneration for the fiscal year 2010–2011 

was based on the salary ranges listed below.

Director $118,000 to $153,000

Deputy director and senior managers $96,000 to $124,000

The salary ranges were changed as of January 1, 2011 to reflect the Ottawa market.

New rates from January to April 2011

Director $119,700 to $155,300

Deputy director and senior managers 97,400 to $125,800

Along with a director and deputy director, there is one senior manager for each of the following business units: 

Funding Services, Client Services, Governance and Performance Management, and Knowledge Services.

In addition to their salary, employees receive group benefits including a contribution to a group RRSP, which 

amounts to 10 to 18 per cent of their annual compensation.

compensation for GMf council members and peer reviewers
GMF Council members, except for federal government appointees, may claim an honorarium of $350 for each day 

of a council meeting, plus a one-day honorarium to cover preparation time. For teleconference meetings, a half-day 

honorarium rate of $175 may be claimed, plus a half-day honorarium to cover preparation time.

GMF peer reviewers may claim fees of $800 per day. While the Funding Agreement permits peer reviewers ap-

pointed by the federal government to be compensated, none have made any claims since the inception of GMF.

From April to December 2010



FinAnciAl stAtements

a p p e n d i x  c :

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial Statements of the 
 

FEDERATION OF  
CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES -  
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND 
 

March 31, 2011 
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Independent Auditor's Report 
 

To the National Board of Directors and Members of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities  

 
Report on the Financial Statements 

 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Federation of Canadian Municipalities 

(FCM) - Green Municipal Fund, which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2011 and 

the statements of operations, changes in fund balance and of cash flows for the year then ended, and a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as 

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditor's Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 

standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 

FCM - Green Municipal Fund as at March 31, 2011 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.   
 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

 

As required by the Canada Corporations Act, we report that, in our opinion, these principles have been 

applied on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year. 

 

 

 

Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 

June 5, 2011 
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FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES - 
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND
Statement of Financial Position 
as at March 31, 2011

2011 2010 

CURRENT ASSETS

  Cash 2,611,600$         3,878,100$          
  Short-term investments (note 3) 92,166,800         57,138,200           
  Interest receivable 2,707,000          3,174,900            
  Other receivables 90,100               24,900                
  Current portion of loans 
    receivable (note 4) 11,247,200          9,372,700           
  Prepaid expenses 31,000                134,400              

108,853,700       73,723,200         

LONG-TERM 
  INVESTMENTS (note 3) 403,732,200      448,259,000      
LOANS RECEIVABLE (note 4) 124,428,300      106,994,700       

CAPITAL ASSETS (note 6) 1,353,100            148,100                

638,367,300$    629,125,000$      

CURRENT LIABILITIES

  Accounts payable and 
    accrued liabilities 736,200$           1,819,100$            
  Interfund payable (note 5) 300,100              172,500               
  Grants payable (note 7) 47,870,800        42,720,000         

48,907,100         44,711,600          

FUND BALANCE

  Invested in capital assets 1,353,100            148,100                
  Accumulated unrealized gains and losses 21,905,700         17,063,900          
  Reserve for non-performing 
    loans (note 8) 9,042,700          7,983,700           
  Externally restricted  557,158,700       559,217,700         

589,460,200     584,413,400       

638,367,300$    629,125,000$      

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

 Past President - Président sortant

Hans Cunningham
President - Président

Basil Stewart

 1
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FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES -
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND
Statement of Operations  
year ended March 31, 2011

2010 

Revenue

  Investments 21,177,200$     24,307,100$     

  Interest on loans 3,317,200        3,113,800          

  Other revenue 90,200            14,000             

24,584,600     27,434,900      

Operating expenses

  Personnel costs 4,142,600        3,560,000       

  Other operating expenses 4,524,200       4,713,300         

  Amortization of 

    capital assets 181,300            115,500             

  Occupancy costs 408,700          232,100            

9,256,800       8,620,900        

Excess of revenue over 

  expenses before grants 15,327,800      18,814,000       

Grants (note 7) 15,122,800       5,259,800        

EXCESS OF REVENUE 

  OVER EXPENSES 205,000$        13,554,200$     

2011 

  2



FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES -
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND
Statement of Changes in Fund Balance
year ended March 31, 2011

2010

Accumulated Reserve for

Invested in Unrealized Non-Performing Externally

Capital Assets Gains Loans Restricted Total Total

BALANCE, BEGINNING

  OF YEAR 148,100$            17,063,900$        7,983,700$        559,217,700$      584,413,400$   563,842,800$   

Excess of  revenue over

  expenses -                      -                       -                     205,000              205,000            13,554,200        

Amortization of capital 

  assets (181,300)             -                       -                     181,300                 -                    -                   

Net purchase of capital 

  assets 1,386,300          -                       -                     (1,386,300)          -                    -                   

Net increase in unrealized

  gains on available-for-

  sale financial assets -                      4,841,800            -                     -                       4,841,800          7,016,400          

  Transfer to Reserve for  

  non-performing loans (note 8) -                      -                       1,059,000         (1,059,000)          -                    -                   

  

BALANCE, END OF YEAR 1,353,100$         21,905,700$       9,042,700$       557,158,700$      589,460,200$  584,413,400$   

2011

  3
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FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES -
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND
Statement of Cash Flows 
year ended March 31, 2011

2011 2010 

NET INFLOW (OUTFLOW) OF CASH 

  RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING 

  ACTIVITIES:

  OPERATING

    Excess of revenue 

      over expenses 205,000$           13,554,200$        

    Amortization of premium/

      discount on investments (12,319,100)         (10,192,700)          

    Loss on sale of investments 617,300              (2,133,200)           

    Amortization of 

      capital assets 181,300                115,500                 

    Changes in non-cash 

      operating working capital

      capital items (449,200)           1,849,300            

(11,764,700)        3,193,100             

  FINANCING

    Net increase (decrease)

      in grants payable 5,150,800           (5,539,900)          

  INVESTING

    Purchase of investments (387,672,100)      (431,857,400)       

    Sale of investments 413,713,900       446,192,200        

    Net increase in loans receivable (19,308,100)        (10,943,800)        

    Purchase of capital assets (1,425,900)         (19,600)               

    Proceeds from sale of capital

      assets 39,600               -                     

5,347,400          3,371,400            

NET INCREASE (DECREASE)

  IN CASH (1,266,500)         1,024,600            

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 3,878,100           2,853,500           

CASH, END OF YEAR 2,611,600$         3,878,100$          

 4
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FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES -  
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
year ended March 31, 2011 

 

5 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION 

 

 On March 18, 1937, the Federation of Canadian Mayors and Municipalities (FCMM) was created from 

the merger of the 36-year old Union of Canadian Municipalities and the Dominion Conference of 

Mayors, formed two years earlier.  On February 2, 1967, the FCMM was incorporated by letters patent 

under Part II of the Canada Corporations Act.  At that time, charitable status was sought and 

obtained from Canada Revenue Agency.  Supplementary Letters Patent changed the name of the 

organization to Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) on August 9, 1976.  Owing to its 

charitable status, FCM is not subject to income taxes. 

 

 FCM is the national voice of municipal governments.  FCM is dedicated to improving the quality of 

life in all communities by promoting strong, effective and accountable municipal government.  FCM 

membership includes Canada's largest cities, the major provincial and territorial municipal 

associations, and rural and urban communities. 

 

 

In April 2000, FCM received from the Government of Canada $100,000,000 to set up the Green 

Municipal Investment Fund (GMIF) and $25,000,000 for the Green Municipal Enabling Fund (GMEF).  

Both funds were established to stimulate investment in innovative municipal projects and practices 

to improve the environmental performance of Canadian municipalities.  In April 2002, FCM received 

an additional $100,000,000 for the GMIF and $25,000,000 for the GMEF.  As of March 31, 2005, the 

GMIF and GMEF have been merged into one fund called Green Municipal Fund (GMF).  In July 2005, 

FCM received another $300,000,000.  

 

 

 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

These financial statements report on the activities of the GMF only.  They do not report on the 

activities of other funds of the FCM. 

 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP) and include the following significant accounting policies: 

 

 Fund accounting 

 

In accordance with the principles of fund accounting, FCM maintains its accounting records to 

ensure that limitations and restrictions placed on the use of available resources are observed.  Under 

this method, resources are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into funds that are in 

accordance with specific activities or objectives.  Accordingly, separate accounts are maintained for 

the General Fund and the Externally Restricted Fund (GMF). 

 

 Green Municipal Fund (GMF) 
 

 GMF supports through grants and loans the implementation of innovative environmental projects 

undertaken by Canadian municipalities and other public and private sector partners. 
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FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES -  
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
year ended March 31, 2011 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 Financial instruments 

 
All financial assets are required to be classified as either held-for-trading, held-to-maturity 

investments, loans and receivables, or available-for-sale.  All financial liabilities are required to be 

classified as held-for-trading or other liabilities.   

 
 The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired or 

issued, their characteristics and the FCM's designation of said instruments, at the time of initial 

recognition.  Settlement date accounting is used and transaction costs related to investments are 

expensed as incurred.  Interest on interest-bearing available-for-sale financial assets is calculated 

using the effective interest rate method. 

 
 Classifications made by FCM: 

 

 Cash Held-for-trading 

 Investments Available-for-sale 

 Accounts receivable Loans and receivables 

 Accounts payable and  

  accrued liabilities Other liabilities 

 
 Held-for-trading 

 

 These financial assets are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date.  Fair value fluctuations 

including interest earned, interest accrued, gains and losses realized on disposal and unrealized gains 

and losses are included in investment revenue. 

 

 Available-for-sale 

 

 Available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in 

accumulated unrealized gains and losses until realized when the cumulative gain or loss is transferred 

to investment revenue. 

 

 

 Loans and receivables 

 

 These financial assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less 

any impairment. 

 

 Related party receivables and loans are recorded at exchange amounts. 

 

 Other liabilities 

 

 These financial liabilities are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.   

 

 Other liabilities to related parties are recorded at the exchange amounts. 
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FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES -  
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
year ended March 31, 2011 
 

7 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 
 Revenue recognition 

 

 FCM follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.  Receipts in restricted funds 

and unrestricted receipts in other funds are recognized as revenue in the appropriate fund when 

received or receivable.   

 

 Interest revenue is recognized in the particular fund to which it applies on an accrual basis. 

 

 Expense recognition 

 

 Grants are recognized as an expense in the period in which the Board approval process has been 

completed. 

 

Loans receivable 

 

Loans are determined to be impaired when payments are contractually past due or where FCM's 

management is of the opinion that the loan should be regarded as impaired.  An exception may be 

made where management determines that the loan is well secured and the collection efforts are 

reasonably expected to result in either repayment of the loan or its restoration according to the 

terms of the contract. 

 

 Actual write-offs, net of recoveries, are expensed and then applied against the Reserve for non-

performing loans.  The Reserve for non-performing loans is described in note 8. 

 

 Capital assets 

 

 Assets purchased for externally funded projects are charged directly to project expense.  All other 

assets are capitalized in the year of purchase and amortized using the straight-line basis over the 

following terms: 

 

 

 Furniture and equipment 5 years 

 Leasehold improvements period of lease 

 Computer hardware and software 4 - 5 years 
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FEDERATION OF CANADIAN MUNICIPALITIES -  
GREEN MUNICIPAL FUND 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
year ended March 31, 2011 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

 Use of estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management 

to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 

disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ 

from these estimates.  

 

Significant areas requiring the use of management's estimates include the collectible amounts of 

receivables, the amount of accounts payable and accrued liabilities and the useful lives of capital 

assets. 

 

 Future accounting changes 

 

 In 2010, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) issued a new accounting 

framework applicable to Canadian not-for-profit organizations.  Effective for fiscal years beginning 

on or after January 1, 2012, not-for-profit organizations may adopt either International Financial 

Reporting Standards or GAAP for not-for-profit organizations.  FCM currently plans to adopt 

GAAP for not-for-profit organizations effective April 1, 2012. 

 

 

3. INVESTMENTS 

 

 Investments are summarized as follows: 

 
 2011  2010 

  Fair   Fair 
 Cost Value  Cost Value 

      

 Short-term bonds  $ 91,599,500  $ 92,166,800   $ 56,772,200  $ 57,138,200 

      
   Supranational 
   bonds 

 
 $ 103,419,200 

 
 $ 109,265,700 

  
 $ 100,304,000 

 
 $ 103,311,700 

 Federal bonds   512,500   532,500    519,600   544,200 

 Provincial bonds   190,873,600   203,183,300    177,963,600   186,783,800 

 Corporate bonds   85,531,600   88,645,100    150,388,900   155,227,700 

 Municipal bonds   2,057,100   2,105,600    2,385,000   2,391,600 

      
Long-term      
  investments  $ 382,394,000  $ 403,732,200   $ 431,561,100  $ 448,259,000 

 

 Interest rate risk 

 

 Bonds consist of debt obligations of governments and corporate entities paying interest at rates 

appropriate to the market at their date of purchase.  They mature at face value on a staggered 

basis from April 14, 2011 to December 31, 2108.  Effective interest rates to maturity for these 

securities range from 0.16% to 19.96%. 
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3. INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 

Financial risk 

 

 The financial risk arises from the fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, and the 

degree of volatility of these rates.  GMF does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure 

to interest and foreign currency risk. 

 

Credit risk  
 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counterparty to an investment will fail to perform its 

obligations.  Concentrations of credit risk exist when a significant proportion of investments are 

invested in securities with similar characteristics or subject to similar economic, political or other 

conditions.  Management believes that the concentrations described above do not represent 

excessive risk. 

 

Fair value 

 

The market values of bonds are based upon published market quotations. 

 

 

4. LOANS RECEIVABLE 

 

 2011  2010 

    

 Municipalities and Municipal corporations  $134,992,600   $ 115,456,900 

 Corporations   682,900    910,500 

   135,675,500  116,367,400 

      

 Less current portion   11,247,200    9,372,700 

 $-124,428,300  $-106,994,700 

 

 

 Maturities and interest rates    

    

   1 to 5 years Rate 5 to 10 years Rate 

     

 Municipalities and Municipal 

corporations 

 $62,275,000 0.28% 
to 

5.8% 

$ 72,717,600 1.56% 
to 

3.765% 

 Corporations   682,900 6.686% -    - % 
 

  $62,957,900   $72,717,600     
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4. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued) 
 

 Loan repayments over the next five years based on the same terms and conditions are as follows: 

 

 2012  $11,247,200 

 2013   11,247,800 

 2014   11,506,300 

 2015   42,116,700 

 2016   20,295,100 

   

  $96,413,100 

 

 

5. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE 

 

The balance is without defined terms of repayment and is non-interest-bearing. 

 

 

6. CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

 2011  2010 

  Accumulated Net Book  Net Book 

 Cost Amortization Value  Value 

      

 Furniture and equipment $ 476,500  $ 33,900 $ 442,600  $ 75,100 

 Leasehold improvements 894,800   45,000  849,800    52,800 

 Computer hardware and  software   403,100   342,400  60,700     20,200 

      

 $1,774,400 $ 421,300 $1,353,100  $ 148,100 

 

 

7. GRANTS PAYABLE 

 

 2011  2010 

    

 Balance, beginning of year  $42,720,000  $ 48,259,900 

 Approvals    15,122,800    5,259,800 

 Disbursements   (9,972,000)     (10,799,700) 

    

 Balance, end of year  $47,870,800  $ 42,720,000 

 

Management cannot reasonably estimate the amounts that will be disbursed in future years, as 

such the total balance is reported as current. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
year ended March 31, 2011 
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8. RESERVE FOR NON-PERFORMING LOANS 

 

GMF, under terms of the funding agreement, transfers to this reserve annually an amount equivalent 

to five per cent of its annual investment revenue for the purpose of managing risk from potentially 

non-performing loans.   

 

 

9. COMMITMENTS 

 

As at March 31, 2011 GMF had loans approved by the Board but undisbursed for a total amount of 

$238,811,700 (2010 - $158,714,500). 

 

FCM is committed under operating leases for the office space over the next ten years as follows: 

 

 Total 

  

2012 $ 530,000 

2013 541,900 

2014 557,100 

2015 572,200 

2016 592,800 

2017 615,400 

2018 630,600 

2019 645,700 

2020 660,900 

2021 333,400 

  

  $5,680,000 

 

10. RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

 

 The employer matches employee RRSP contributions up to 5% of their salaries. Total employer 

contributions for the year were $185,000 (2010 - $135,800). 
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11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND ALLOCATION OF EXPENSES 

 

 During the year, a total amount of $78,400 (2010 - $110,500) was charged to GMF for its 

participation in various FCM events.  These transactions were carried out in the normal course of 

operations and are recorded at fair market value. 

 

 Also, FCM allocates the administrative overhead costs between its strategic programs and projects 

based on the proportion of actual salaries and benefits incurred.  Administrative overhead is 

primarily composed of:  building, information technology, human resources, finance, payroll and 

other common administrative expenses. 

 

 These expenses were allocated as follows: 

 

 2011  2010 

  

General 

Fund 

Green 

Municipal 

Fund 

 

 

Total 

  

General 

Fund 

Green 

Municipal 

Fund 

 

 

Total 

        

Administrative  

   overhead 

 
 $1,918,000 

 
$ 1,393,900 

 
$ 3,311,900 

  

 $ 1,889,200 

 

$ 1,292,800 

 

$3,182,000 

        

  57.91%  42.09%  100.00%   59.37%  40.63%  100.00% 

 

 

12. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 

GMF's objectives when managing capital are to continue to comply with the external capital 

requirements specified in the agreement with the Government of Canada. Capital consists of fund 

balance. The funds held are only available for the operations of the GMF.  

 

The GMF shall maintain the nominal value of the Fund Assets of at least $500,000,000 excluding 

the value of the reserve for non-performing loans and the reserve for guarantees.  As of March 31, 

2011 this balance was equal to $580,417,500 (2010 - $576,429,700).  From the $500,000,000 

dedicated to stimulate innovative municipal projects and practices, to improve the environmental 

performance of Canadian municipalities, a minimum amount of $150,000,000 is restricted for the 

remediation and redevelopment of brownfields. The GMF complies with the requirements of these 

externally restricted funds. 

 

There have been no changes to the GMF’s capital requirements and its overall strategy to capital 

remains unchanged from the prior year. 

 

 

13. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

 

Certain prior year figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. 
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GmF initiAtives AppRoved in 2010–2011

a p p e n d i x  d :

The following initiatives were approved by the FCM National Board  

of Directors in 2010–2011. These initiatives were assessed to have the  

potential to result in significant environmental improvements in air,  

water and soil quality, including reductions in GHG emissions.

bRitish columbiA

The sustainable downtown peachland plan (GMf 10277) 
Lead applicant: Corporation of the District of Peachland 

Total project value: $69,500 

GMF grant: $34,750

Hydrology study for non-Mechanical cooling of a proposed leed® silver municipal police building  
(GMf 10274) 
Lead applicant: City of Prince George 

Total project value: $114,230 

GMF grant: $15,015

westminster pier park (GMf 10275) 
City of New Westminster 

Total project value: $275,000 

GMF grant: $119,500

city of Kelowna corporate energy and GHG emissions plan (GMf 10282) 
Lead applicant: City of Kelowna 

Total project value: $195,000 

GMF grant: $90,750
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2021 and beyond 
Lead applicant: City of North Vancouver (GMF 10284) 

Total project value: $631,500 

GMF grant: $200,750

corporate and community energy and emissions sustainability plan (GMf 10295)  
Lead applicant: Town of Smithers 

Total project value: $99,400 

GMF grant: $49,500

corporation of delta community energy and emissions plan (GMf 10298)  
Lead applicant: Corporation of Delta 

Total project value: $151,000 

GMF grant: $66,000

foot of lonsdale waterfront planning study (GMf 10312)  
Lead applicant: City of North Vancouver 

Total project value: $521,471 

GMF grant: $257,434

discovery pier Tidal power feasibility study (GMf 10315) 
Lead applicant: City of Campbell River 

Total project value: $129,308 

GMF grant: $55,154

peace river regional energy and emissions project (GMf 10319) 
Lead applicant: Regional District of Peace 

Total project value: $159,270 

GMF grant: $46,464

village of Telkwa integrated community sustainability plan (GMf 10336) 
Lead applicant: Village of Telkwa 

Total project value: $133,450 

GMF grant: $66,725

pilot scale demonstration of anammox Technology of Treatment of High strength ammonia (GMf 10342) 
Lead applicant: City of Abbotsford 

Total project value: $218,400 

GMF grant: $107,200

city of cranbrook wastewater capacity improvements (GMf 10345) 
Lead applicant: City of Cranbrook 

Total project value: $14,504,000 

GMF grant: $306,727 

GMF loan: $3,067,273
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community energy and emissions plan (GMf 10351) 
Lead applicant: District of Mission 

Total project value: $76,225 

GMF grant: $32,500

sewage Treatment plant upgrade (GMf 10356)  
Lead applicant: City of Kamloops 

Total project value: $38,040,000 

GMF grant: $400,000 

GMF loan: $4,000,000

former rayleigh correctional site - environmental Management and remediation (GMf 10360) 
Lead applicant: City of Kamloops 

Total project value: $430,701 

GMF grant: $185,851

abbotsford integrated community sustainability plan (GMf 10367) 
Lead applicant: City of Abbotsford 

Total project value: $454,288 

GMF grant: $168,000

Greenest city 2020 plan (GMf 10376) 
Lead applicant: City of Vancouver 

Total project value: $755,000 

GMF grant: $324,500

Town of ladysmith community sustainability plan (GMf 10393) 
Lead applicant: Town of Ladysmith 

Total project value: $71,500 

GMF grant: $35,750

Quick start icsp (GMf 10425) 
Lead applicant: Resort Municipality of Whistler and Town of Osoyoos 

Total project value: $293,875 

GMF grant: $146,375

surrey civic centre district energy feasibility study (GMf 11001)  
Lead applicant: City of Surrey 

Total project value: $115,140 

GMF grant: $34,242

central saanich firehall project – site/environmental assessment (GMf 11008)  
Lead applicant: District of Central Saanich 

Total project value: $112,500 

GMF grant: $52,250
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AlbeRtA

cold lake regional utilities services commission wastewater Treatment plant feasibility study (GMf 10114) 
Lead applicant: City of Cold Lake 

Total project value: $330,000 

GMF grant: $165,000

county of Grande prairie clairmont Heights area structure plan (GMf 10234) 
Lead applicant: County of Grande Prairie No. 1 

Total project value: $181,504 

GMF grant: $70,216

wind-powered water and wastewater Treatment systems for water Quality enhancement (GMf 10334) 
Lead applicant: Town of Three Hills 

Total project value: $72,375 

GMF grant: $30,250

Town of banff leed® silver recreation centre (GMf 10335) 
Lead applicant: Town of Banff 

Total project value: $33,026,000 

GMF grant: $400,000 

GMF loan: $4,000,000

sAskAtchewAn

district energy system feasibility (GMf 10251)  
Lead applicant: City of Saskatoon 

Total project value: $230,000 

GMF grant: $110,000

city of regina official community plan (GMf 10363)  
Lead applicant: City of Regina 

Total project value: $4,066,000 

GMF grant: $350,000
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Manitoba Municipal action plan (GMf 10340) 
Lead applicant: Association of Manitoba Municipalities and City of Thompson  

Total project value: $429,400 

GMF grant: $112,000

Morden community centre energy retrofit project (GMf 10344) 
Lead applicant: Town of Morden 

Total project value: $11,000 

GMF grant: $5,500

st. françois xavier settlement centre plan (GMf 10380) 
Lead applicant: Rural Municipality of Saint-François Xavier 

Total project value: $28,545 

GMF grant: $14,273

ontARio

integrated sustainable community plan (GMf 10123) 
Lead applicant: City of Sarnia 

Total project value: $33,000 

GMF grant: $16,500

integrated sustainable community plan (GMf 10166) 
Lead applicant: County of Lambton 

Total project value: $33,000 

GMF grant: $16,500

Mississauga environmental Master plan (GMf 10199) 
Lead applicant: City of Mississauga 

Total project value: $345,000 

GMF grant: $115,000

prospering and preserving: King Township’s integrated community sustainability plan (GMf 10235) 
Lead applicant: Township of King 

Total project value: $365,000 

GMF grant: $165,000

Town of puslinch – sustainable big lake plan (GMf 10245) 
Lead applicant: Township of Puslinch 

Total project value: $420,000 

GMF grant: $200,000

pearson eco-business Zone district energy feasibility study (GMf 10254) 
Lead applicant: Toronto and Region Conservation Authority and Region of Peel 

Total project value: $190,000 

GMF grant: $85,000
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pearson eco-business Zone policy Harmonization feasibility study (GMf 10258) 
Lead applicant: Toronto and Region Conservation Authority 

Total project value: $81,500 

GMF grant: $35,750

lightsavers – feasibility study for implementation of advanced lighting Technology (GMf 10265) 
Lead applicant: Toronto Atmospheric Fund and City of Toronto 

Total project value: $70,500 

GMF grant: $30,000

feasibility study for the county of dufferin’s proposed energy from waste facility (GMf 10266) 
Lead applicant: County of Dufferin 

Total project value: $207,000 

GMF grant: $102,500

city of Kingston energy retrofit feasibility study (GMf 10267) 
Lead applicant: City of Kingston 

Total project value: $294,750 

GMF grant: $112,475

sustainable niagara (GMf 10270)  
Lead applicant: Regional Municipality of Niagara  

Total project value: $129,000 

GMF grant: $49,500

brantford Greenwich-Mohawk remediation plan (GMf 10271) 
Lead applicant: City of Brantford 

Total project value: $456,398 

GMF grant: $228,199

Guelph innovation district secondary plan (GMf 10272) 
Lead applicant: City of Guelph 

Total project value: $424,519 

GMF grant: $142,252

Town of northeastern Manitoulin and the islands (neMi) sustainable community plan (GMf 10279) 
Lead applicant: Town of Northeastern Manitoulin and the Islands 

Total project value: $60,000 

GMF grant: $30,000

phase ii environmental site assessment and remedial action plan, cooper site (GMf 10290) 
Lead applicant: City of Stratford  

Total project value: $693,000 

GMF grant: $346,500

energy analysis at York region water and wastewater facilities (GMf 10300) 
Lead applicant: Regional Municipality of York 

Total project value: $189,237 

GMF grant: $68,094

reTHinK energy london local action plan (GMf 10311) 
Lead applicant: City of London 

Total project value: $225,250 

GMF grant: $50,000
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Great energy, balanced life, sustainable future (GMf 10316) 
Lead applicant: Municipality of Kincardine 

Total project value: $87,000 

GMF grant: $38,500

sustainable bancroft (GMf 10317) 
Lead applicant: Town of Bancroft 

Total project value: $94,450 

GMF grant: $40,725

Town of deseronto brownfield and waterfront revitalization community improvement plan (GMf 10332) 
Lead applicant: Town of Deseronto 

Total project value: $93,920 

GMF grant: $42,572

Measuring sustainability performance of new development in brampton, richmond Hill and vaughn 
(GMf 10337) 
Lead applicant: City of Brampton 

Total project value: $230,400 

GMF grant: $85,000

sustainable neighbourhood retrofit action plan – lake wilcox neighbourhood (GMf 10341) 
Lead applicant: Town of Richmond Hill, Toronto and Region Conservation Authority and Regional  

 Municipality of York 

Total project value: $262,154 

GMF grant: $100,000

York region solar photovoltaic feasibility study (GMf 10368) 
Lead applicant: Regional Municipality of York 

Total project value: $69,025 

GMF grant: $34,513

Town of amherstburg pollution control plant upgrade and expansion (GMf 10373) 
Lead applicant: Town of Amherstburg 

Total project value: $34,139,569 

GMF grant: $400,000 

GMF loan: $4,000,000

city of Thunder bay waterfront development brownfield remediation (GMf 10377) 
Lead applicant: City of Thunder Bay 

Total project value: $1,144,136 

GMF loan: $915,309

Town of Halton Hills leed® silver acton branch library (GMf 10381) 
Lead applicant: Town of Halton Hills 

Total project value: $4,322,133 

GMF grant: $180,800 

GMF loan: $1,808,000

phase ii environmental assessment (oak and Third and Mitchell wilson properties) (GMf 10382) 
Lead applicant: Town of Gananoque 

Total project value: $23,200 

GMF grant: $9,900
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sustainable neighbourhood retrofit action plan – county court brampton (GMf 10385) 
Lead applicant: Toronto and Region Conservation Authority and Region of Peel 

Total project value: $361,750 

GMF grant: $86,625

niagara region climate action plan 2 (GMf 10388)  
Lead applicant: Regional Municipality of Niagara 

Total project value: $123,000 

GMF grant: $44,000

east Markham community centre & library (GMf 10399) 
Lead applicant: Town of Markham 

Total project value: $75,484,613 

GMF grant: $400,000 

GMF loan: $4,000,000

city of orillia opp detachment (GMf 10402) 
Lead applicant: City of Orillia 

Total project value: $12,179,125 

GMF grant: $400,000 

GMF loan: $4,000,000

city of ottawa leed® silver centrepointe Theatre expansion (GMf 10423) 
Lead applicant: City of Ottawa 

Total project value: $12,780,000 

GMF grant: $363,636 

GMF loan: $3,636,364

elora wastewater Treatment plant and clyde street sewage pumping station upgrading and expansion  
(GMf 11000)  
Lead applicant: Township of Centre Wellington 

Total project value: $16,500,000 

GMF grant: $1,000,000 

GMF loan: $10,000,000

Thorold park redevelopment (GMf 11002) 
Lead applicant: Thorold Park Redevelopment Inc. and City of Thorold  

Total project value: $30,893,000 

GMF loan: $16,000,000
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côte-de-beaupré: Toward a region in Good Health (GMf 10228)  
Lead applicant: MRC de la Côte-de-Beaupré 

Total project value: $575,000 

GMF grant: $287,500

a development and sustainable development plan for the Territory (GMf 10249)  
Lead applicant: Town of Bromont 

Total project value: $308,000 

GMF grant: $124,000

sustainable development plan for the longueuil community (GMf 10256)  
Lead applicant: City of Longueuil 

Total project value: $631,000 

GMF grant: $200,750

a Holistic review of the Master plan and development plan (GMf 10260)
Lead applicant: City of Shawinigan

Total project value: $178,480 

GMF grant: $89,240

feasibility study on implementing the residual waste Management Master plan (GMf 10302)
Lead applicant: RCM of l’Assomption

Total project value: $449,481

GMF grant: $186,548

feasibility study for an environmentally sustainable resort in the laurentians (GMf 10321)
Lead applicant: RCM des Laurentides

Total project value: $378,000

GMF grant: $184,800

pilot project for a used Tire collection system (GMf 10326)
Lead applicant: City of Montréal

Total project value: $8,636,741

GMF grant: $350,000

rcM of la Matapédia: a rural centre of excellence in sustainable development (GMf 10327) 
Lead applicant: RCM of La Matapédia

Total project value: $667,500

GMF grant: $304,975

construction of fire security service Headquarters for the city of sorel-Tracy (GMf 10343) 
Lead applicant: City of Sorel-Tracy

Total project value: $5,573,547

GMF grant: $351,978

GMF loan: $3,519,778
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leed® Gold library, exhibition centre and Museum facility (GMf 10374)
Lead applicant: City of Montréal – Borough of Saint-Laurent 

Total project value: $31,638,388

GMF grant: $1,000,000

GMF loan: $10,000,000

pilot project for detecting and replacing lead pipes (GMf 10375)
Lead applicant: City of Montréal 

Total project value: $554,384

GMF grant: $273,692

review of a Master plan based on sustainable development (GMf 10378)
Lead applicant: City of Dorval 

Total project value: $341,640

GMF grant: $170,820

implementation of Two ecocentres in the rcM of Haute-Yamaska (GMf 10383)
Lead applicant: RCM of Haute-Yamaska 

Total project value: $3,635,662

GMF grant: $440,704

GMF loan: $2,203,522

sustainable development plan for the Town of sainte-anne-de-bellevue (GMf 10384)
Lead applicant: Town of Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue

Total project value: $173,146

GMF grant: $78,401

new bRunswick

where the river begins: our path to sustainability (GMf 10243) 
Lead applicant: Village of Petitcodiac 

Total project value: $78,450 

GMF grant: $36,375

local action plan for Greenhouse Gas reduction in bouctouch (GMf 10261) 
Lead applicant: Town of Bouctouche  

Total project value: $36,740 

GMF grant: $16,396

vision Grand falls (GMf 10263) 
Lead applicant: Town of Grand Falls 

Total project value: $66,550 

GMF grant: $33,275

integrated community sustainability plan (GMf 10303) 
Lead applicant: Village of Port Elgin 

Total project value: 45,000 

GMF grant: 15,000
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sackville Town Hall and emergency response services building (GMf 10346) 
Lead applicant: Town of Sackville 

Total project value: $11,785,000 

GMF grant: $400,000 

GMF loan: $4,000,000

st. andrews wastewater Treatment plant upgrading (GMf 10353) 
Lead applicant: Town of St. Andrews 

Total project value: $3,324,575 

GMF grant: $96,140 

GMF loan: $961,402

novA scotiA

plan eastern shelburne county energy strategy (GMf 10268) 
Lead applicant: District of Shelburne 

Total project value: $72,500 

GMF grant: $35,000

water utility – engineering services Town of pictou (GMf 10276) 
Lead applicant: Town of Pictou 

Total project value: $69,254 

GMF grant: $33,863

administration building facilities renewal needs analysis and feasibility study (GMf 10386) 
Lead applicant: District of Shelburne 

Total project value: $56,000 

GMF grant: $27,500

county of Kings Multi-Government complex with coined Heat and power for net Zero energy study 
 (GMf 11003) 
Lead applicant: County of Kings 

Total project value: $66,000 

GMF grant: $33,000
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pRince edwARd islAnd

city of summerside electric smart utility Grid pilot project (GMf 10394)  
Lead applicant: City of Summerside 

Total project value: $1,000,000 

GMF grant: $350,000

newFoundlAnd And lAbRAdoR

an integrated community sustainability plan (GMf 10184) 
Lead applicant: City of Mount Pear 

Total project value: $32,726 

GMF grant: $16,363

nunAvut

The city of iqaluit sustainable community plan (GMf 10389) 
Lead applicant: City of Iqaluit 

Total project value: $463,500 

GMF grant: $158,400
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selection cRiteRiA

a p p e n d i x  e :

The selection of reviewers for a particular application or proposal is based 

on the sector in which the initiative falls and the expertise of the review-

ers. The number of required reviewers for a given application or proposal 

depends on the dollar amount and type of funding requested. 

Completed peer review assessments are presented to the GMF Council, 

which recommends a decision on eligible project proposals to the Execu-

tive Committee of the FCM National Board of Directors. The FCM National 

Board of Directors Executive Committee ensures that due diligence is 

exercised in the decision process and makes the final decision on eligible 

project proposals.

The following tables outline the selection criteria applied to applications 

received during the 2010–2011 fiscal year.  

sustainable community plans, 
feasibility studies and field tests
Table e1: selection criteria for sustainable community plans

RAted cRiteRiA mAximum scoRe

Sustainability approach 
Linkages to existing plans 15

Systems approach 20

Sustainability considerations 15

Innovation and knowledge sharing 
Innovative practices and technologies – beyond business as usual 10

Potential for broad application and lessons learned 10

Management and workplan 
Management capacity 10

Workplan 10

Budget 10

Total 100

Each application for a sustainable 

community plan, feasibility study, 

field test or capital project is as-

sessed by two or three indepen-

dent third-party reviewers against a 

set of selection criteria. The criteria 

are intended to assess the sustain-

ability potential, knowledge value, 

and management approach of each 

initiative, with an emphasis on an-

ticipated environmental benefit.

Reviewers for each application are 

selected from the GMF Peer Review 

Committee, a group of approxi-

mately 75 independent experts in 

specific environmental fields. One-

third of the committee`s members 

are from federal departments and 

organizations, one-third are from 

municipal governments and one-

third are from private sector or 

non-governmental organizations. 

The FCM National Board of Direc-

tors selects up to two-thirds of the 

committee members. The Ministers 

of Natural Resources Canada and 

Environment Canada provide a list 

of candidates for the remaining po-

sitions on the committee; the FCM 

National Board of Directors ap-

points the remaining members from 

this list of candidates. Members are 

appointed to the committee for a 

term of two years and reappointed 

for one or more two-year terms 

based on participation, turnover 

and the need for a balance of tech-

nical and financial expertise.
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Table e2: selection criteria for feasibility studies and field tests

RAted cRiteRiA mAximum scoRe

Systems approach and environmental, social and economic benefits 
Systems approach 10

Linkages to existing plans 10

Environmental benefits 25

Social and economic benefits 5

Innovation and knowledge sharing 
Innovative practices and technologies – beyond business as usual 10

Potential for broad application and lessons learned 10

Management and workplan 
Management capacity 10

Workplan 10

Budget and cost-effectiveness 10

Total 100

Capital projects
Table e3: selection criteria for capital projects 

RAted cRiteRiA mAximum scoRe

Assessment of potential benefits 
Direct environmental benefits 20 points

Other environmental considerations 20 points

Social benefits 10 points

Economic benefits 10 points

Total potential benefits 60 points

Knowledge value 
Innovation – beyond business as usual 10 points

Potential for broad application and lessons learned 10 points

Total knowledge value 20 points

Project management potential 
Management experience and qualifications 5 points

Project timelines 5 points

Risk management 5 points

Project financing 5 points

Total project management potential 20 points

ToTal  100 points

The funding objectives for the five 

GMF-funded sectors are to:

•  Promote the redevelopment of 

brownfield sites and to avoid 

“greenfield” development

•  Reduce energy consumption 

through projects that incorpo-

rate energy efficiency, energy 

production from residual or 

renewable sources, thermal en-

ergy transmission as well as net 

zero technologies

•  Reduce fossil fuel consumption 

and emissions for transpor-
tation through projects that 

encourage modal shift away 

from single occupancy vehicles 

or that encourage fleet fuel ef-

ficiency or fleet fuel switching

•  Protect local watersheds 

through projects that promote 

water conservation, stormwater 

management, wastewater treat-

ment and septic system man-

agement

•  Reduce waste being sent to 

landfill
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Current  
members 
*as of March 31, 2011 

cuRRent membeRs  
Appointed by the Fcm  
nAtionAl boARd oF  
diRectoRs

councillor Karen leibovici, chair 
City of Edmonton, Alberta 

Appointed November 2007

Mayor Michel Morin, vice-chair 
Ville de Rivière-du-Loup, Québec  

Appointed November 2010

councillor Mark Heyck, vice-chair 
City of Yellowknife,  

Northwest Territories 

Appointed June 2007

councillor lise burcher 
City of Guelph, Ontario 

Appointed September 2008

warden lloyd Hines 
Union of Nova Scotia Municipalities 

Appointed December 2008

cuRRent membeRs  
RepResentinG the FedeRAl 
GoveRnment

carol buckley, director General 
Office of Energy Efficiency 

Energy Sector 

Natural Resources Canada 

Reappointed October 2008

Alternate 

Kevin lee, director,  
Housing division  
Office of Energy Efficiency 

Natural Resources Canada 

Appointed September 2010

john Marrone, director General 
Ottawa Research Centre 

CanmetENERGY 

Innovation and Energy  

Technology Sector 

Natural Resources Canada  

Reappointed June 2008

Alternate 

dr. Gilles jean, director General 
Varennes Research Centre 

CanmetENERGY 

Innovation and Energy  

Technology Sector 

Natural Resources Canada  

Reappointed June 2008

GmF council membeRs

a p p e n d i x  f :
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unselecTed MeMber

Alternate 

dr. daniel lebel, regional  
director General, atlantic region, 
Environment Canada 

Appointed November 2010

dr. javier Gracia-Garza,  
director General
Science and Technology Strategies 

Environment Canada 

Appointed February 2008

Alternate 

randal Meades, director General 
Public and Resources Sectors 

Environment Canada 

Appointed December 2010

catherine Higgens,  
director General 
Environmental Programs 

Transport Canada 

Appointed September 2008

Alternate 

unselected member

cuRRent membeRs  
RepResentinG the pRivAte 
And AcAdemic sectoRs

Tammy lomas-jylhä 
vice-president,  
Sustainable Remediation and 

Brownfield Services, 

Ontario Centre for Environmental 

Technology Advancement  

(now the Bloom Centre for  

Sustainability) 

Reappointed December 2010

james r. craven,  
Municipal financial analyst 
James Craven & Associates 

Reappointed December 2010

Michael roschlau,  
president and chief executive  
officer
Canadian Urban Transit Association 

Appointed May 2010

philippe dunsky, president 
Dunsky Energy Consulting 

Reappointed May 2010

eva ligeti l.l.b., l.l.M., executive 
director
Clean Air Partnership 

Reappointed May 2010

Former  
members

FoRmeR membeRs  
Appointed by the Fcm  
nAtionAl boARd oF  
diRectoRs

Mayor jean perras, vice-chair 
Municipality of Chelsea, Québec  

Served 20072010

councillor  
Marguerite ceschi-smith, 
vice-chair 
City of Brantford, Ontario 

Served 2007–2008

councillor sheila fougere 
City of Halifax, Nova Scotia 

Served 2007–2008

Mayor sam synard, chair 
Town of Marystown, Newfoundland 

and Labrador 

Served 2000–2007

councillor patricia a. wallace,  
vice-chair 
past president and vice-chair 
union of british columbia 
Municpalities 

Served 2000–2007

councillor Ken lesniak, vice-chair 
(appointed chair in 2007)
Strathcona County, Alberta 

Served 2002–2007

councillor ann bourget 
City of Québec, Québec 

Served 2003–2006

councillor bill Mara 
City of Windsor, Ontario 

Served 2001–2003

deputy Mayor Ken friesen 
Town of Steinbach, Manitoba 

Served 2000–2002

Mayor Gilles vaillancourt 
vice-president and vice-chair 
City of Laval, Québec 

Served 2000–2002 

alderman bob charters 
City of Hamilton, Ontario 

Served in 2000

Mayor doug archer 
City of Regina, Saskatchewan 

Served in 2000 

FoRmeR membeRs  
RepResentinG the FedeRAl 
GoveRnment

jim wolmershausen,  
regional director General
Environment Canada – Ontario 

Served in 2010

philip jago, (alternate) director 
Office of Energy Efficiency  

Buildings Division 

Natural Resources Canada 

Served 2008–2010

linda savoie, (alternate)  
Director, Environmental Initiatives 

Environmental Affairs 

Transport Canada 

Served 2008–2010
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jim abraham,  
regional director General
Environment Canada – Atlantic 

Served 2007–2010

Maria dober, (alternate) 
Manager, 
Sydney Tar Ponds 

Environmental Protection  

Operations Division 

Environmental Stewardship Branch 

Environment Canada – Atlantic 

Served 2008–2010

anne o’Toole, director General 
Public and Resources Sectors 

Environment Canada 

Served 2007–2008

Guylaine roy,  
director General special projects
Policy Group 

Transport Canada 

Served in 2007

anne auger (alternate), director 
Office of Energy Efficiency 

Energy Technology and  

Programs Sector 

Natural Resources Canada 

Served 2005–2007

shirley anne scharf (alternate) 
Technology and Industry Branch 

Environment Canada 

Served 2005–2007

david Macisaac (alternate),  
acting director
Environmental Initiatives,  

Transport Canada 

Served in 2006

robert lyman, director General 
Environmental Affairs,  

Transport Canada 

Served 2002–2006

neil Macleod, General director 
Office of Energy Efficiency,  

Energy Sector 

Natural Resources Canada 

Served 2000–2006

Margaret Kenny, director General 
Environmental Technology  

Advancement Directorate 

Environment Canada 

Served in 2005

Gordon owen, director General 
Air Pollution Prevention Directorate 

Environmental Protection Service, 

Environment Canada 

Served 2003–2005

Garth bengay,  
regional director General
Atlantic Region, Environment 

Canada 

Served in 2002–2005

bryan cook, director General 
CANMET-Energy Technology 

Branch 

Natural Resources Canada 

Served 2000–2004

david Thornton,  
acting director General
Environmental Technology  

Advancement Directorate 

Environment Canada 

Served 2000–2003

phil Kurys, acting director General 
Environmental Affairs,  

Transport Canada 

Served in 2002

nancy schepers, director General 
Environmental Affairs,  

Transport Canada 

Served 2001–2002

jean-pierre Gauthier,  
director General
Québec Region,  

Environment Canada 

Served 2000–2002

john forster, director General 
Environmental Affairs,  

Transport Canada 

Served 2000–2001

FoRmeR membeRs  
RepResentinG the pRivAte 
And AcAdemic sectoRs

dave reynolds, president 
Discovery Environmental  

Consulting Ltd. 

Served 2005–2006

stephanie foster,  
executive director
Centre for Environment and  

Sustainability, Upper Canada  

College 

vice-president, 
CH2M HILL Canada 

Served 2002–2005

dennis bevington 
Stand Alone Energy Systems 

Served 2000–2005

beth johnson 
Beth Johnson Consulting 

Served 2000–2005

Mark Gilbert, phd,  
chief executive officer
Nova Scotia Municipal Finance 

Corporation 

Served 2002–2003

professor raymond côté 
School for Resource and  

Environmental Studies 

Faculty of Management,  

Dalhousie University 

Served 2000–2002

nick sonntag, president 
CH2M Gore and Storrie Limited, 

and  

president, 
CH2M HILL Canada Limited 

Served 2000–2002
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knowledGe ResouRces

a p p e n d i x  G :

FCM produced over  

150 case studies,  

eight webinars and 

25 other educational 

resources in 2010–2011. 

Electronic copies 

of GMF knowledge 

resources were distrib-

uted by e-mail bulletin 

to GMF newsletter 

 subscribers and  

partner organizations. 

Print copies were  

distributed at relevant 

conferences and mailed 

on request to various 

municipal recipients.  

All knowledge resourc-

es are available on  

the FCM website. 

Case studies
The following case studies were 

published in 2010–2011:

bRitish columbiA

capital regional district 
Water supply system could  

generate power (GMEF 5425)

capital regional district 
Drainage plan will ease flooding 

(GMF 9084)

capital regional district 
Capital Regional District develops  

a wastewater management strategy 

(GMF 9520)

comox strathcona  
regional district 
One sustainable plan will guide 

whole region (GMF 9750)

city of coquitlam 
Coquitlam creates action plan to 

reduce emissions (GMF 9108)

corporation of delta 
Delta studies feasibility of a shared 

energy system (GMF 10138)

city of fernie 
Fernie makes emissions-cutting 

plan (GMF 9747)

Town of Gibsons 
Sunshine Coast community weighs 

transit options (GMEF 3981)

Town of Gibsons 
Town makes sustainability plans for 

new neighbourhood (GMF 9516)

city of Kamloops 
Sustainable design sharply reduces 

energy use at water treatment 

plant (GMEF 3022)

district of Kitimat 
Swimming pool captures heat from 

ice rink next door (GMEF 7243)

regional district  
of central Kootenay 
Audit shines light on energy  

savings at Creston and District 

Community Complex (GMEF 2823)

district of lake country 
District of Lake Country explores 

hydroelectricity (GMEF 7088)

district of nanaimo 
Nanaimo region tests collection  

of household organics (GMF 9061)
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city of new westminster 
A sustainable blueprint for a livable 

downtown (GMF 9311)

regional district  
of central okangan
Okanagan updates solid-waste plan 

(GMEF 7260)

regional district  
of central okanagan
Okanagan action plan stresses 

quality of life (GMEF 7291)

regional district 
 of okanagan-similkameen
Region uses software to engage 

public in planning (GMEF 7053)

city of prince George 
Northern city explores  

ecologically sustainable  

landscaping (GMEF 7117)

city of Quesnel 
Startup costs ofdistrict heating  

system a big hurdle (GMEF 7226)

city of revelstoke 
Revelstoke studies using  

waste wood for district energy 

(GMEF 5156)

city of richmond 
Policy tools redesigned for 

 eco-industrial development  

(GMEF 3304)

city of richmond 
Wetland system passes the test 

for town’s wastewater treatment 

(GMEF 7204)

district of saanich 
Municipality changing staff  

commuting habits (GMEF 5120)

district of salmon arm 
Pilot project harvests valuable 

wastewater nutrients (GMF 9575)

district of squamish 
Squamish plans smart growth  

for its downtown (GMEF 7114)

regional district  
of sunshine coast 
B.C.’s Sunshine Coast explores im-

provements at its landfill  

(GMEF 7173)

village of Telkwa 
Small community reaping  

benefits of UV water treatment 

(GMEF 3648)

city of Terrace 
City develops sustainability  

strategy (GMF 10160)

Thompson-nicola  
regional district 
Thompson–Nicola Regional  

District plans to reduce solid waste 

(GMEF 7267)

city of vancouver 
Vancouver tests potential  

of community transportation 

passes (GMEF 2896)

city of vancouver 
Vancouver aims for steady  

drop in greenhouse gas emissions 

(GMEF 5350)

city of vernon 
Vernon rethinks its reclaimed water 

irrigation system (GMEF 879)

AlbeRtA

alberta capital region 
Alberta Capital Region  

Wastewater Commission tests  

biogas combustion (GMEF 7061)

Town of banff 
Banff study aims high in upgrading 

wastewater plant (GMEF 819)

Town of banff 
Banff takes a new tack on recycling 

(GMIF 9610)

Town of banff 
Banff launches fully hybridized bus 

fleet (GMF 9769)

brazeau county 
Greenhouse system can treat 

wastewater — even in winter  

(GMEF 5430)

calgary regional partnership 
Municipalities work together on 

organic waste (GMEF 7225)

city of camrose 
Green roofs and green walls help 

reduce greenhouse gas emissions 

(GMEF 3728)

Town of cochrane 
A community plan for sustainability 

(GMF 10004)

city of edmonton 
Cutting-edge gasification plant 

gets the green light (GMEF 7257)

city of edmonton 
Edmonton improves its street-sand 

recycling program (GMF 9082)

city of edmonton 
Strathcona Shooting Range site 

remediation (GMF 9391)

city of edmonton 
Plan calls for changes to city’s fleet 

(GMF 9724)

Town of lac labiche
Alberta lake gets a comprehensive 

checkup (GMEF 3110)

city of leduc 
Leduc tests oxidation beds  

at landfill (GMEF 3849)

city of Medicine Hat 
Alberta project demystifies solar 

electricity (GMEF 7292)

city of Medicine Hat 
Medicine Hat puts proposed  

wind farm under the microscope 

(GMF 9300)
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Town of pincher creek 
Solar water heating among ideas 

for recreation centre (GMF 9387)

Town of rimby 
Town considers new technologies 

to turn waste into ethanol  

(GMEF 3820)

Municipal district of rocky view 
Alberta county creates wetland 

protection plan (GMF 9627)

city of spruce Grove 
Municipality gets set to promote 

eco-industrialism (GMF 9536)

strathcona county 
Community energy system gets 

thumbs-up (GMEF 5344)

strathcona county 
Study calls for central water  

supply in Alberta’s petrochemical 

heartland (GMF 9495)

sAskAtchewAn

village of Île à la crosse 
Saskatchewan village plans  

innovative new landfill (GMEF 3322)

Town of lumsden 
Rural Saskatchewan town seeks 

wastewater solution (GMEF 3431)

Town of nipawin 
Ethanol plant would turn waste  

to fuel (GMEF 5086)

city of regina 
New lease on life for downtrodden 

neighbourhood (GMEF 5304)

city of saskatoon 
Saskatoon redesigns transit system 

(GMEF 5231)

city of saskatoon 
Saskatoon takes aim at greenhouse 

gas emissions (GMEF 5575)

city of saskatoon 
Saskatoon studies model for  

sorting construction and demolition 

waste (GMEF 5576)

mAnitobA

regional Municipality  
of Gilbert plains
Region coordinates action to  

manage solid waste (GMF 9072)

city of portage la prairie 
Portage la Prairie targets nutrients 

in its wastewater (GMF 9663)

city of winnipeg 
Revamped Winnipeg library  

designed with green in mind 

(GMEF 3104)

city of winnipeg 
Winnipeg explores using landfill gas 

(GMEF 5558)

city of winnipeg 
Planning framework encourages 

regional thinking (GMEF 7251)

ontARio

Town of arnprior 
Upgraded sewage treatment  

will cut contaminants and odours 

(GMF 9725)

city of belleville 
Belleville fosters brownfield  

redevelopment (GMF 9430)

city of brantford 
City of Brantford aims for 60 per 

cent diversion of residential waste 

(GMF 9707)

city of brockville 
Brownfields plan fosters urban 

regeneration (GMF 9415)

Town of collingwood 
Town’s sustainability plan sets out 

guiding principles (GMF 9046)

city of dryden 
Public leery of water meters  

(GMF 9293)

Town of east Gwillimbury 
An energy plan for a growing town 

(GMF 9743)

city of Guelph 
New treatment process to divert 

biosolids from municipal landfill 

(GMEF 5596)

city of Guelph 
Guelph turns landfill gas into  

electricity (GMEF 7022)

city of Guelph 
City embraces ‘goodbye garbage’ 

plan (GMEF 7202)

city of Hamilton 
Improved B Line attracts transit  

riders (GMF 9458)

city of Kawartha lakes 
Kawartha Lakes takes steps  

to improve waste management  

(GMEF 2852)

Township of lanark Highlands 
Study weighs village’s water  

treatment options (GMEF 2916)

Town of Milton 
Home provides model of energy 

efficiency (GMEF 7073)

city of Mississauga 
Intelligent transportation system 

makes buses smarter (GMEF 3859)

district Municipality of Muskoka 
Composting tests lead to change  

in Muskoka (GMEF 5520)

city of niagara falls 
City makes rehabilitating brownfield 

sites a priority (GMEF 3627)
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city of niagara falls 
Niagara Falls defines future  

direction for transit (GMF 9730)

city of north bay 
North Bay creates energy and  

environment action plan  

(GMF 9585)

Township of north frontenac 
Rural municipalities cooperate to 

find waste solutions (GMEF 5431)

county of northumberland 
County tries organic waste  

collection — and likes it  

(GMEF 7151)

city of oshawa 
City buildings get major energy 

upgrades (GMF 9177)

city of ottawa 
Green athletic facility proposed 

(GMEF 5099)

city of ottawa 
Ottawa turns landfill gas into  

electrical power (GMEF 5720)

city of ottawa 
Ottawa studies grass swale and 

perforated pipe drainage systems 

(GMF 9289)

city of ottawa 
Affordable housing will be  

sustainable, too (GMF 9660)

regional Municipality of peel 
Peel tests activated sludge waste-

water treatment (GMEF 3276)

Town of perth 
Small town plans sustainable 

 neighbourhood (GMF 9080)

Town of renfrew 
Renfrew looks at second source  

of renewable energy (GMEF 5652)

Town of richmond Hill 
Lake Wilcox’s bottom waters are 

a top priority for Richmond Hill 

(GMEF 2189)

Town of richmond Hill 
Richmond Hill develops plan to 

breathe easier (GMEF 3217)

city of stratford 
Stratford makes plan for  

greenhouse gas reductions  

(GMF 9045)

city of Thunder bay 
Community helps draft  

environmental action plan  

(GMEF 7124)

city of Timmins 
Timmins cuts $500,000 from city 

energy and water bill (GMEF 7215)

city of Toronto 
Efficient appliances worth the cost, 

housing agency finds (GMIF 1157)

city of Toronto 
Developer studies energy  

alternatives for Distillery District 

(GMEF 3369)

city of Toronto 
Regent Park plans green  

community (GMEF 5443)

city of Toronto 
Greening Toronto one brick  

at a time (GMEF 5527)

city of Toronto 
Exhibition Place tests solar panels 

(GMEF 7077)

city of Toronto 
Toronto’s inventory points the  

way to reducing greenhouse gas 

emissions (GMEF 7084)

city of Toronto 
Non-profit group uses new  

technologies in heritage renovation 

(GMEF 7121)

city of Toronto 
Biomedical district collaborates  

on energy plan (GMF 9548)

city of Toronto 
City plans to renovate  

neighbourhood landmark  

(GMF 9586)

city of vaughan 
Vaughan launches three-stream 

waste collection (GMF 9313)

city of waterloo 
Waterloo field tests solar power 

(GMEF 2804)

city of waterloo 
Waterloo runs tests on biodiesel  

for its city fleet (GMEF 3376)

city of welland 
Welland offers incentives to clean 

up brownfields (GMEF 7016)

city of windsor 
Windsor charts course with transit 

master plan (GMEF 7163)

Quebec

regional county  
Municipality of lajemmerais 
Lajemmerais reduces waste going 

to landfill (GMEF 2505)

city of laval 
Laval draws up an inventory  

of its GHG emissions (GMEF 746)

regional county  
Municipality of Montmagny 
Montmagny takes action on septic 

tank sludge (GMEF 158)

city of Montréal 
Montréal gardeners green their 

roofs to improve their environment 

(GMEF 5435)

Quebec city 
Quebec City tests wetland gardens 

as stormwater filter (GMEF 2049)
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regional county  
Municipality of rocher-percé 
Large-scale composting in the 

Gaspé (GMF 9052)

Town of sainte-anne-des-lacs 
Ste-Anne-des-Lacs makes plan  

to protect its lakes (GMF 9685)

city of sainte-Thérèse 
City tests decontamination  

technology (GMF 9089)

city of sherbrooke 
Would recovering biogas from the 

Sherbrooke landfill be economically 

feasible? (GMEF 2617)

new bRunswick

city of bathurst 
Bathurst city bus service viable 

(GMEF 7026)

Town of ste. anne 
Study clears way for sewer system 

improvements (GMF 9696)

city of st. john 
Energy audits at water and sewage 

facilities set the scene for cost cuts 

(GMEF 3453)

Town of saint-Quentin 
Saint-Quentin ensures the  

sustainability of its drinking  

water supply (GMEF 7078)

novA scotiA

Municipality of the  
district of argyle 
Conservation key to water supply 

at seniors’ home (GMEF 7115)

Town of canso 
Maritime community plans to  

harness the wind (GMEF 3788)

cape breton regional Municipality 
Cape Breton studies wind power 

(GMEF 3056)

cape breton regional Municipality 
Cape Breton municipality 

tests composting with worms 

(GMEF 7099)

Municipality of east Hants 
East Hants studies ways to improve 

water quality (GMEF 7288)

city of Halifax 
Site assessments clear way for  

Africville memorial (GMF 9049)

Halifax regional Municipality 
Halifax lays groundwork for  

sustainability (GMEF 5248)

Halifax regional Municipality 
Planning for change (GMEF 5285)

Halifax regional Municipality 
Halifax zeroes in on sustainable 

transportation (GMF 9273)

Municipality of the  
county of inverness
Strait-Highlands gets the lowdown 

on greenhouse gas emissions 

(GMEF 7032)

Town of wolfville 
Planning study sets town on  

path to sustainable development 

(GMEF 7040)

newFoundlAnd 
And lAbRAdoR

city of corner brook 
Corner Brook studies how  

to ease impact of sewage on sea 

(GMEF 3503)

Town of Marystown 
Energy audit results in plan for  

municipal buildings (GMF 9576)

Town of stephenville 
Stephenville builds innovative  

engineered wetland and sewer  

system to treat its sewage  

(GMEF 5499)

pRince edwARd  
islAnd

village of victoria 
Prince Edward Island village builds 

better sewage system (GMEF 7129)

nunAvut

city of iqaluit 
Iqaluit launches sustainable housing 

development (GMEF 5228)

noRthwest  
teRRitoRies

city of Yellowknife 
Tests help city pick new water  

filtration system (GMEF 3264)

city of Yellowknife 
User-pay plan will cut landfill waste 

and cover costs (GMEF 3265)

city of Yellowknife 
Yellowknife looks at ways to boost 

recycling (GMF 9539)

yukon

village of Haines junction 
Industrial park moves to save 

money, cut greenhouse gas  

emissions (GMEF 7145)

city of whitehorse 
Green carts boost compost  

collection in Whitehorse  

(GMF 9399)
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Webinars 
*Offered in English 

**Offered in French

Getting to 50% and Beyond:  

Waste Diversion Success Stories 

from Quebec Municipalities** 

April 7, 2010

Measuring Progress towards  

Climate Protection* 

April 14, 2010

Heavy Duty Departures:  

How Municipal Leaders Are  

Reducing Fleet Emissions* 

September 16, 2010

Heavy Duty Departures:  

How Municipal Leaders Are  

Reducing Fleet Emissions** 

October 7, 2010

Carbon Neutral Local Governments 

— Spotlight on British Columbia* 

October 28, 2010

Sustainable Community Planning 

in Victoria and the Capital Regional 

District: A preview to the 2011  

Sustainable Communities  

Conference* 

December 2, 2010

The Future of Public Transit in  

Canada: From Vision to Action* 

February 3, 2011

Climate Liability: Municipal  

Responsibilities in a  

Changing Climate* 

March 3, 2011

Other educational resources
The following resources were published in 2010–2011:  

(Available online at www.fcm.ca/gmf)

•  Brownfields Roadmaps (British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario and Quebec)

•  Canadian Municipalities: Leading the Way to Urban Sustainability

•  GMF newsletter (four editions)

•  Adapting Your Infrastructure to Climate Change: Tools and Techniques 
for Vulnerability Assessment, Risk Evaluation and Response Planning 

(PCP publication)

•  Demonstrating Results: Municipal Initiatives for Reducing GHGs 

(PCP publication)

•  EnviroFleets Guide to Helpful Resources (PCP publication)

•  EnviroFleets Guide to Best Practices (PCP publication)

•  GHG Initiative of the Month (PCP publication, 12 editions)








